Transversality for J-Holomorphic Maps: a Complex-Geometric Perspective

Aleksey Zinger*

April 13, 2022

Abstract

We provide a treatment of transversality for *J*-holomorphic maps and the associated evaluation maps and derivatives of arbitrary order from the generally overlooked viewpoint of Ivashkovich-Shevchishin. In contrast to the usual approach, we establish these statements simultaneously through a single application of a universal moduli space setup.

Contents

1	Introduction		2	
	1.1	Preview of the main statements	2	
	1.2	Transversality for <i>J</i> -holomorphic maps	4	
	1.3	Preview of the proofs	6	
	1.4	Outline and acknowledgments	9	
2	Spa	ces of (J, ν) -maps	0	
	2.1	GU Riemann surfaces	0	
	2.2	Moduli spaces of nodal Riemann surfaces	.3	
	2.3	Maps from GU domains	5	
	2.4	Ruan-Tian perturbations	6	
	2.5	Transversality for (J, ν) -maps	8	
3	Proof of Theorems 1.3-2.6 23			
	3.1	Baire spaces and ubiquitousness	23	
	3.2	Configuration spaces	25	
	3.3	Spaces of deformations and obstructions	28	
	3.4	Universal moduli spaces	81	
4	Ana	alytic preliminaries 3	8	
	4.1	Classical statements	88	
	4.2	Fredholm bundle sections	88	
	4.3	Ubiquitous regularity	88	
	4.4	Taubes's argument	3 9	
	45	Ceneralized Cauchy Riemann operators	1	

*Partially supported by NSF grant 1500875

1 Introduction

Gromov's introduction [10] of J-holomorphic curves techniques into symplectic topology has revolutionized this field and led to its numerous connections with algebraic geometry. The ideas put forward in [10] have been further elucidated and developed in [16, 18, 22, 23, 15] and in many other works. Chapters 2 and 4 of [18] concern two of the three fundamental building blocks of the subject of J-holomorphic curves, the local structure of J-holomorphic maps and Gromov's convergence for sequences of J-holomorphic maps; an alternative systematic exposition of these two topics appears in [33]. Chapter 3 and Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of [18], Section 4 of [22], and Section 3 of [23] deal with the third fundamental building block of the subject, transversality issues for J-holomorphic maps that are relevant to constructing pseudocycles out of moduli spaces of these maps. The present paper provides a streamlined and more general treatment of these issues. We adapt this treatment to moduli spaces of real J-holomorphic maps in [34], providing a geometric interpretation of the positive-genera real Gromov-Witten invariants of [5] in semi-positive cases.

1.1 Preview of the main statements

We begin by formulating the main statements of this paper in the most basic case of *J*-holomorphic maps from connected domains. The g = 0 case of Theorem 1.1 and the $(g, \mathfrak{m}) = (0, 0)$ case of Theorem 1.2(2) below include the main conclusions of [18, Chapter 3]. The analogues of these statements for *J*-holomorphic maps from disconnected domains, provided by Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 in Section 1.2, imply the main conclusions of [18, Sections 6.2,6.3]. We illustrate the general approach behind the proofs of the main statements in this paper on the special cases of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 in Section 1.3.

We call a subset $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ of a topological space \mathcal{J} ubiquitous if $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ contains a countable intersection of open dense subsets of \mathcal{J} (the term used in [18] is residual). We discuss the significance of this notion in the contexts such as those of the main theorems of this paper in Section 3.1.

For a manifold X, denote by $\mathcal{J}(X)$ the space of almost complex structures J on X with the C^{∞} -topology. If in addition ω is a symplectic form on X, let

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X) \subset \mathcal{J}_{\omega}'(X) \subset \mathcal{J}(X) \tag{1.1}$$

be the subspaces of ω -compatible and of ω -tamed almost complex structures. For $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, and $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$, denote by $\mathfrak{M}_{g,k}^*(A; J)$ the moduli space of equivalence classes of simple degree A J-holomorphic maps u from smooth connected compact genus g Riemann surfaces (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) with k (distinct) marked points to X. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, let

$$\operatorname{ev}_i : \mathfrak{M}^*_{a,k}(A;J) \longrightarrow X$$
 and $L_i \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}^*_{a,k}(A;J)$

be the evaluation map and the universal tangent line bundle, respectively, for the *i*-th marked point; see Section 2.3.

Theorem 1.1. Let X be a 2n-manifold. There exists a ubiquitous subset $\hat{\mathcal{J}} \subset \mathcal{J}(X)$ such that the moduli space $\mathfrak{M}^*_{a\,k}(A;J)$ is a smooth oriented manifold of dimension

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}}\mathfrak{M}^*_{g,k}(A;J) = 2(\langle c_1(TX), A \rangle + (n-3)(1-g) + k)$$

$$(1.2)$$

and ev_i is a smooth map for all

$$g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}, \quad i = 1, \dots, k, \quad A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z}), \quad J \in \mathcal{J}.$$
 (1.3)

For every symplectic form ω on X, the same statement holds with $\mathcal{J}(X)$ replaced by $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X)$ and $\mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(X)$.

Let ∇ be a connection in TX and Σ be a smooth surface. Given $z \in \Sigma$ and $v \in T_z \Sigma$, choose a smooth curve

$$\alpha_v \colon (-\delta, \delta) \longrightarrow \Sigma, \quad \tau \longrightarrow \alpha_v(\tau), \qquad \text{s.t.} \quad \alpha_v(0) = z, \quad \alpha'_v(0) = v.$$
 (1.4)

For a smooth map $f: \Sigma \longrightarrow X$, denote by D_{f,α_v}^{∇} the covariant derivative of sections of $\alpha_v^* f^* T X$ with respect to τ determined by ∇ . For $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, let

$$\mathfrak{D}_{f}^{m}v = \underbrace{D_{f,\alpha_{v}}^{\nabla}\dots D_{f,\alpha_{v}}^{\nabla}}_{m-1} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} (f \circ \alpha) \Big|_{\tau=0} \in T_{f(z)}X.$$

In particular, $\mathfrak{D}_f^1 v = \mathrm{d}_x f(v)$ is independent of the choices of ∇ and α_v satisfying (1.4). If $\mathfrak{D}_f^1 v, \ldots, \mathfrak{D}_f^{m-1} v$ vanish, then $\mathfrak{D}_f^m v$ is also independent of these choices. If in addition f is (J,\mathfrak{j}) -holomorphic for some $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$ and $\mathfrak{j} \in \mathcal{J}(\Sigma)$, then

$$\mathfrak{D}_{f}^{m}\left(c \cdot_{j} v\right) = c^{m} \cdot_{J} \left(\mathfrak{D}_{f}^{m} v\right) \qquad \forall c \in \mathbb{C};$$

$$(1.5)$$

this follows from [33, Corollary 3.6].

Let $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, and $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$. For a tuple $\mathfrak{m} \equiv (m_i)_{i=1,\dots,k}$ in $(\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$, define

$$\mathcal{Z}_{g,\mathfrak{m}}^{*}(A;J) = \left\{ [z_{1},\ldots,z_{k},u:\Sigma\longrightarrow X] \in \mathfrak{M}_{g,k}^{*}(A;J): \mathfrak{D}_{u}^{m}v = 0 \ \forall \ m \in \mathbb{Z}^{+}, \ m \leqslant m_{i}, \\ v \in T_{z_{i}}\Sigma, \ i = 1,\ldots,k \right\}.$$
(1.6)

By (1.5), the section

$$\mathfrak{D}_{i}^{m_{i}+1} \in \Gamma\left(\mathcal{Z}_{g,\mathfrak{m}}^{*}(A;J); L_{i}^{*\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(m_{i}+1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathsf{ev}_{i}^{*}(TX,J)\right),$$

$$\mathfrak{D}_{i}^{m_{i}+1}v^{\otimes m} = \mathfrak{D}_{u}^{m_{i}+1}v \quad \forall \ [u,v] \in L_{i},$$

$$(1.7)$$

is well-defined for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Theorem 1.2. Let X be a 2n-manifold.

- (1) There exists a ubiquitous subset $\widehat{\mathcal{J}} \subset \mathcal{J}(X)$ such that the space $\mathcal{Z}_{g,\mathfrak{m}}^*(A;J)$ is a smooth oriented submanifold of $\mathfrak{M}_{g,k}^*(A;J)$ of codimension $n|\mathfrak{m}|$ and (1.7) is a smooth section transverse to the zero set for all g, k, i, A, and J as in (1.3) and $\mathfrak{m} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$.
- (2) If $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and $h: Y \longrightarrow X^k$ is a smooth map from a smooth manifold, then $\widehat{\mathcal{J}}$ can be chosen in (1) so that in addition the restriction of the smooth map

$$\mathsf{ev} \equiv \mathsf{ev}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathsf{ev}_k \colon \mathfrak{M}^*_{q,k}(A;J) \longrightarrow X^k$$

to $\mathcal{Z}^*_{a,\mathfrak{m}}(A;J)$ is transverse to h for all g, A, J and \mathfrak{m} as in (1).

For every symplectic form ω on X, the same statements hold with $\mathcal{J}(X)$ replaced by $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X)$ and $\mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(X)$.

Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 in Section 1.2 extend Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 to J-holomorphic maps from disconnected domains. They directly imply the same statements for J-holomorphic maps from nodal domains, as well as for the more general GU domains introduced in [22]. Other special cases of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 of the closely related Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 include Lemma 7.5 in [11], Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 in [20], Proposition A.1 in [26], Proposition 1.8 in [29], and Theorem 1.5(1) in [31].

The crucial new ingredient for the purposes of constructing pseudocycles out of moduli spaces of stable *J*-holomorphic maps from positive-genus Riemann surfaces is the notion of inhomogeneous perturbation ν of the $\bar{\partial}_J$ -operator introduced in [22]; see Section 2.4. It in particular leads to extensions of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 to degree A=0 maps; see Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 in Section 2.5.

1.2 Transversality for *J*-holomorphic maps

Let X be a manifold and B be a manifold, possibly with boundary. Denote by

$$\pi_X \colon B \times X \longrightarrow X$$

the projection to the second component, by $\mathcal{J}(B; X)$ the space of fiberwise complex structures on the vector bundle π_X^*TX with the C^{∞} -topology, and by $\operatorname{Symp}(B; X)$ the space of smooth fiberwise symplectic structures on π_X^*TX . For $J \in \mathcal{J}(B; X)$, $\omega \in \operatorname{Symp}(B; X)$, and $b \in B$, let $J_b \in \mathcal{J}(X)$ and $\omega_b \in \operatorname{Symp}(X)$ be the associated almost complex and symplectic structures on X. For $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}(\partial B; X)$, define

$$\mathcal{J}_{J_{\circ}}(B;X) = \{ J \in \mathcal{J}(B;X) \colon J_b = (J_{\circ})_b \ \forall \ b \in \partial B \}.$$

$$(1.8)$$

For $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, denote by

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}(B;X)$$

the subspaces of ω -compatible and of ω -tamed almost complex structures. For $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(\partial B; X)$ and $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}'(\partial B; X)$, define

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega;J_0}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(B;X) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{J}'_{\omega;J_0}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(B;X),$$

respectively, similarly (1.8).

For $\chi \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, $A \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})$, and $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$, denote by $\mathfrak{M}_{\chi,k}^{\bullet*}(A;J)$ the moduli space of equivalence classes of simple degree A J-holomorphic maps u from smooth, possibly disconnected, compact Riemann surfaces (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) of holomorphic Euler characteristic χ with k (distinct) marked points to X. For a manifold B, possibly with boundary, and $J \in \mathcal{J}(B; X)$, let

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\chi,k}^{\bullet*}(A;J) = \{(b,[\mathbf{u}]) \colon b \in B, \ [\mathbf{u}] \in \mathfrak{M}_{\chi,k}^{\bullet*}(A;J_b)\}.$$

This space inherits a topology from spaces of smooth maps from smooth domains. For each $i \in [k]$, denote by

$$\operatorname{ev}_i : \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet *}_{\chi,k}(A;J) = \longrightarrow X \quad \text{and} \quad L_i \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet *}_{\chi,k}(A;J)$$
(1.9)

the natural evaluation map and the universal tangent line bundle, respectively, for the *i*-th marked point; these are pullbacks from one of the factors. For a tuple $\mathfrak{m} \equiv (m_i)_{i \in [k]}$ in $(\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$, define

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}^{\bullet*}(A;J) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\chi,k}^{\bullet*}(A;J) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{D}_{i}^{m_{i}+1} \in \Gamma\left(\mathcal{Z}_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}^{\bullet*}(A;J); L_{i}^{*\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(m_{i}+1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathsf{ev}_{i}^{*}(TX,J)\right)$$
(1.10)

as in (1.6) and (1.7) with $\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet*}_{\chi,k}(A;J)$ in place of $\mathfrak{M}^*_{g,k}(A;J)$.

Theorem 1.3. Let X be a 2n-manifold. For every manifold B_{\circ} , there exists a ubiquitous subset

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B_{\circ};X) \subset \mathcal{J}(B_{\circ};X) \tag{1.11}$$

with the following properties.

(0) If $B^1_{\circ}, B^2_{\circ}, \ldots$ are the topological components of B_{\circ} , then

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B_\circ; X) = \widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B^1_\circ; X) \times \widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B^2_\circ; X) \times \dots$$

(1) For all $\chi \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, and $J \in \widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B_\circ; X)$,

(1a) $\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet *}_{\chi,k}(A;J)$ is a smooth manifold of dimension

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\ast}_{\chi,k}(A;J) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} B_{\circ} + 2(\langle c_1(TX), A \rangle + (n-3)\chi + k),$$

- (1b) $\mathcal{Z}_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}^{\bullet*}(A;J)$ is a smooth submanifold of $\mathfrak{M}_{\chi,k}^{\bullet*}(A;J)$ of codimension $2n|\mathfrak{m}|$, and the section \mathfrak{D}^{m_i+1} in (1.10) is smooth and transverse to the zero set for all $\mathfrak{m} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$ and $i \in [k]$.
- (2) For all $J_{\circ} \in \widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B_{\circ}; X)$ and manifolds B with boundary $\partial B = B_{\circ}$, there exists a ubiquitous subset

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}_{J_{\circ}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}_{J_{\circ}}(B;X) \tag{1.12}$$

satisfying the properties in (1) with B_{\circ} and manifold replaced by B and manifold with boundary so that

$$\partial \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet*}_{\chi,k}(A;J) = \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet*}_{\chi,k}(A;J_{\circ}), \quad \partial \mathcal{Z}^{\bullet*}_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}(A;J) = \mathcal{Z}^{\bullet*}_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}(A;J_{\circ}).$$
(1.13)

(3) An orientation on B_{\circ} determines orientations on all spaces in (1) so that (2) holds in the category of oriented manifolds.

For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, the same statements hold with \mathcal{J} replaced by \mathcal{J}_{ω} and \mathcal{J}'_{ω} .

Theorem 1.4. Let X and B_{\circ} be as in Theorem 1.3. If $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and $h: Y \longrightarrow X^k$ is a smooth map from a manifold, there exists a ubiquitous subset as in (1.11) satisfying (1) in Theorem 1.3 and the following properties.

(1) For all χ , A, $\mathfrak{m} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$, and $J \in \widehat{\mathcal{J}}(B_\circ; X)$ as in Theorem 1.3(1), the properties (1a) and (1b) in Theorem 1.3 are satisfied and the map

$$\mathsf{ev} \equiv \mathsf{ev}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathsf{ev}_k \colon \mathcal{Z}^*_{\chi,\mathfrak{m}}(J) \longrightarrow X^k \tag{1.14}$$

is transverse to h.

(2) For all J_{\circ} and B as in Theorem 1.3(2), there exists a ubiquitous subset as in (1.12) satisfying the conditions in Theorem 1.3(2) and the additional condition in (1) above.

For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, the same statements hold with \mathcal{J} replaced by \mathcal{J}_{ω} and \mathcal{J}'_{ω} .

The ubiquitous subsets as in (1.11) and (1.12) provided by Theorem 1.4 depend on h. In typical applications of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, B_{\circ} is either a one-point set or a two-point set and B = [0, 1].

1.3 Preview of the proofs

Let X, g, k, and A be as in Theorem 1.1. Denote by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A)$ the space of triples $(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, u)$ consisting of a smooth connected compact Riemann surface (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) and a simple degree A map $\Sigma \longrightarrow X$ with the C^{∞} -topology. For g = 0, we always take (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) to be $S^2 = \mathbb{P}^1$ with its standard complex structure. For g = 1, we allow (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) to vary in the space of pairs arising as the quotients $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$ with $\Lambda_{\tau} \subset \mathbb{C}$ denoting the lattice spanned by 1 and $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\operatorname{Im} \tau > 0$. For g = 2, we fix Σ and allow \mathfrak{j} to vary in the Teichmüller space \mathscr{T}_g determined by Σ . We denote by \mathscr{T}_0 and \mathscr{T}_1 the one-point space and the open upper-half plane $\mathbb{H} \subset \mathbb{C}$, respectively.

For $(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, u) \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{q}^{*}(A)$, let

$$\Gamma(u) \equiv \Gamma\left(\Sigma; u^*TX\right), \quad \Gamma_{J,j}^{0,1}(u) \equiv \Gamma(\Sigma; (T^*\Sigma, j)^{0,1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} u^*(TX, J)),$$
$$\bar{\partial}_{J,j}u = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathrm{d}u + J \circ \mathrm{d}u \circ j \right) \in \Gamma_{J,j}^{0,1}(u).$$

The moduli space $\mathfrak{M}_{g,k}^*(A; J)$ of Theorem 1.1 is a smooth manifold of the expected dimension (1.2) if the linearization

$$D_{J;(j,u)} \colon T_{(j,u)} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A) = T_j \mathscr{T}_g \oplus \Gamma(u) \longrightarrow \Gamma_{J,j}^{0,1}(u)$$
(1.15)

of the $\bar{\partial}_J$ -operator on the space $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A)$ at $(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, u)$ is surjective whenever $\bar{\partial}_{J,\mathfrak{j}}u = 0$; see Proposition 4.2.

The standard way of establishing Theorem 1.1 is to show that the linearization

$$D_{J;(j,u)}\bar{\partial}: T_{(J,j,u)}\left(\mathcal{J} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g}^{*}(A)\right) = T_{J}\mathcal{J} \oplus T_{(j,u)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g}^{*}(A) \longrightarrow \Gamma_{J,j}^{0,1}(u)$$
(1.16)

of the $\bar{\partial}$ -operator on the space $\mathcal{J} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A)$ at $(J; \mathfrak{j}, u)$ is surjective for all elements of the universal moduli space

$$\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{g}^{*}(A) \equiv \left\{ (J; \mathfrak{j}, u) \in \mathcal{J} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g}^{*}(A) : \overline{\partial}_{J, \mathfrak{j}} u = 0 \right\}.$$
(1.17)

The restriction of (1.16) to $T_{(j,u)} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A)$ is (1.15). The surjectivity of (1.16) for every element of (1.17) implies that

- (S1) this subspace is an infinite-dimensional manifold,
- (S2) the homomorphism (1.15) is onto for all $(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, u) \in \mathfrak{B}_g^*(A)$ with $\overline{\partial}_{J,\mathfrak{j}}u = 0$ if and only if J is a regular value of the projection

$$\pi:\mathfrak{UM}^*_g(A)\longrightarrow \mathcal{J}, \qquad \pi(J;\mathfrak{j},u)=J, \tag{1.18}$$

(S3) the subspace $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ of regular values of (1.18) is ubiquitous;

see Section 4.3.

The surjectivity of (1.16), established in the proof of [18, Proposition 3.2.1], is a consequence of the ellipticity of the $\bar{\partial}_J$ -operator and is obtained by explicitly showing that $D_{J;(j,u)}\bar{\partial}(T_J\mathcal{J})$ covers the cokernel of (1.15); see Lemma 3.1. The general principle behind the argument summarized in the previous paragraph is captured by Proposition 4.2. This principle would have applied directly in

the present situation if \mathcal{J} and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g}^{*}(A)$ were Banach manifolds (they are instead infinite-dimensional manifolds locally modeled on Fréchet vector spaces of smooth maps). The standard approach to deal with this issue is to replace \mathcal{J} and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g}^{*}(A)$ with their C^{ℓ} and W_{k}^{p} -analogues, respectively; see Section 3.4. The desired conclusion in the C^{∞} -category then follows via Taubes's argument, appearing in the proofs of [18, Theorems 3.1.6(ii),6.2.6(ii)] and captured by Proposition 4.5. An alternative approach to dealing with the above issue, which stays in the C^{∞} -category, is due to Floer; it is outlined in [18, Remark 3.2.7] and in the last two pages of [18, Section 3.4], which are not used for anything else in [18].

For the constructions of GW-pseudocycles in [18, Section 6.6], [22, Section 2], and [23, Section 2] and for many other purposes in GW-theory, it is useful to establish that the spaces $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma}(J)$ of equivalence classes of simple *J*-holomorphic maps from nodal domains of a fixed combinatorial type γ are also smooth manifolds of the expected dimensions. The possible combinatorial types are the connected genus *g* graphs γ whose vertices *v* are decorated by the elements $g_v \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and A_v of $H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})$; see Section 3.2. The vertices and edges of γ correspond to the irreducible components and the nodes of the domains of the elements of $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma}(J)$. Each space $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma}(J)$ is an open subset of the preimage of a submanifold Δ_{γ} of a Cartesian product X_{γ} under a map

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\gamma} \colon \prod_{v} \mathfrak{M}^*_{g_{v}, S_{v}}(A_{v}; J) \longrightarrow X_{\gamma}, \qquad (1.19)$$

where $\mathfrak{M}^*_{g_v,S_v}(A_v;J)$ is the moduli space of equivalence classes of simple degree A_v *J*-holomorphic maps u_v from smooth connected compact genus g_v Riemann surfaces $(\Sigma_v, \mathfrak{j}_v)$ with (distinct) marked points indexed by the set S_v of the flags based at vertex v; see the beginning of Section 3.4. The expected dimension of $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma}(J)$ is

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma}(J) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{M}^*_{q,0}(A;J) - 2|\gamma|,$$

where g is the sum of the genus of the graph γ and of all the numbers g_v assigned to the vertices of γ , A is the sum of the homology classes A_v assigned to these vertices, $|\gamma|$ is the number of nodes of γ , and the first term on the right-hand side is as in (1.2).

For a generic J, the map ev_{γ} in (1.19) is smooth. It is thus sufficient to show that ev_{γ} is transverse to Δ_{γ} for a still generic J. By the proof of Proposition 4.2, this is implied by the transversality of the smooth map

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\gamma} \colon \left\{ \left(J, (\mathfrak{j}_v, u_v)_v \right) \in \mathcal{J} \times \prod_v \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_{g_v, S_v}(A_v) \colon (J; \mathfrak{j}_v, u_v) \in \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^*_{g_v, S_v}(A_v) \; \forall \, v \right\} \longrightarrow X_{\gamma}$$
(1.20)

to Δ_{γ} , where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g_v,S_v}^*(A_v)$ and $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{g_v,S_v}^*(A_v)$ are the degree A_v genus $g_v S_v$ -marked analogues of the configurations space $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_g^*(A)$ and the universal moduli space $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_g^*(A)$ in (1.17), respectively. This in particular implies that the associated universal moduli space

$$\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{\gamma}^{*} \equiv \left\{ \left(J, (\mathfrak{j}_{v}, u_{v})_{v} \right) \in \mathcal{J} \times \prod_{v} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{g_{v}, S_{v}}^{*}(A_{v}) \colon \left[(\mathfrak{j}_{v}, u_{v})_{v} \right] \in \mathfrak{M}_{\gamma}^{*}(J) \right\}$$
(1.21)

is a smooth manifold.

The transversality of (1.20) for the genus 0 nodal domains (thus, the genus of γ is 0 and $g_v = 0$ for all v) is [18, Proposition 6.2.8]. Its proof is specific to the genus 0 case (though it is also applicable to maps that are constant on some irreducible components). It combines the reasoning as in the proof of [18, Proposition 3.2.1], which establishes the surjectivity of (1.16) in the g = 0 case, with [18, Theorem 6.3.1], according to which the differential of the evaluation map

$$\operatorname{ev}_f \colon \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^*_{g_v,S_v}(A_v) \longrightarrow X$$

is a submersion for every $f \in S_v$. The proof of the latter applies the technical conclusion of [18, Lemma 3.4.3]. Less detailed versions of this approach in more general settings appear in Section 4 of [22] and in Section 3 of [23].

Theorem 1.2(1) is essentially [26, Proposition A.1]. The proof of the latter applies the approach of [18] summarized above to the direct sum of the bundle sections \mathfrak{D}_i^m with $m \leq m_i$ and $i = 1, \ldots, k$ over the domain of the map ev_{γ} in (1.20) instead of the map ev_{γ} . The analogues of Theorem 6.3.1 and Lemma 3.4.3 of [18] in this situation are Lemma A.3 in [26] and Theorem 2.100 in [27], respectively.

Propositions 2.3 and 4.1 in [20] imply the $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ case of Theorem 1.2 with h being the inclusion of the diagonal $\Delta \subset X^2$. Unlike the two-step proofs in [18, 22, 23, 26], the reasoning in [20] obtains the relevant analogues of the universal moduli space (1.21) in one step as the preimages of Banach submanifolds by transverse maps. However, this approach does not extend beyond the $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ case of Theorem 1.2, as the relevant maps would no longer be transverse.

We follow a completely different approach in showing that the analogues $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{Z}^*_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}$ of the universal moduli spaces (1.21) relevant to Theorems 1.1-1.4 are cut out transversely. For $(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, u) \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_g(A)$, a finite tuple $\mathbf{z} \equiv (z_f)_{f \in S}$ of points on Σ , and a tuple $\mathfrak{m} \equiv (m_f)_{f \in S}$ of nonnegative integers, let

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(u; \mathbf{z}) = \left\{ \xi \in \Gamma(u) : \xi(z_f) = 0, \ \nabla^m \xi |_{z_i} = 0 \ \forall \ m = 1, \dots, m_f, \ f \in S \right\}$$

$$\Gamma_{J,j;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(u; \mathbf{z}) = \left\{ \eta \in \Gamma_{J,j}^{0,1}(u) : \nabla^{m-1} \eta |_{z_i} = 0 \ \forall \ m = 1, \dots, m_f, \ f \in S \right\}.$$

It is immediate that the C^{∞} -analogues $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}^*$ of the moduli spaces $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}^*$ (i.e. before imposing $\overline{\partial}$ condition) are infinite-dimensional manifolds; see Lemma 3.3. The smoothness of $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}^*$ then follows from the surjectivity of the analogue of (1.16) over $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}^*$ for each element $(J; (j_v, u_v)_{v \in S_v})$ of $\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\gamma;\mathfrak{m}}^*$. The latter is in turn the case if the image under $D_{(J;j_v,u_v)}\overline{\partial}$ of the subspace of $T_J\mathcal{J}$ consisting of infinitesimal deformations of J supported in an arbitrarily small open subset of X intersecting the image $u_v(\Sigma_v)$ of each component u_v of u covers the cokernel of the restriction

$$D_{J;(\mathbf{j}_v,u_v)} \colon \Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}_v}(u_v;\mathbf{z}_v) \longrightarrow \Gamma^{0,1}_{J,\mathbf{j}_v;\mathfrak{m}_v}(u_v;\mathbf{z}_v)$$
(1.22)

of the homomorphism $D_{J;(j_v,u_v)}$ as in (1.15) for every v, where \mathbf{z}_v is the tuple of marked points carried by u_v (which includes the nodes of the domain Σ of u carried by Σ_v) and \mathfrak{m}_v is an associated tuple of nonnegative integers; see the proof of Proposition 3.5.

In complex geometry, a restriction as in (1.22) corresponds to an operator on the sections of the vector bundle

$$u_v^*(TX,J) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma_v} \left(-\sum_{f \in S} m_f z_f \right) \longrightarrow \Sigma_v,$$
 (1.23)

where the \mathcal{O}_{Σ_v} factor above is the holomorphic line bundle determined by the divisor $-\sum_{f\in S} m_f z_f$

in Σ_v ; see [9, Section 1.1]. The twisting construction of [24, Lemma 2.4.1] extends this classical correspondence to generalized Cauchy-Riemann operators over Riemann surfaces as in (1.15). By Serre Duality [12, Lemma 2.3.2], the cokernel of a restriction as in (1.22) is then isomorphic to the dual of the kernel of the formal adjoint operator $D^*_{J;(j_v,u_v)}$ on the (1,0)-forms that may now have poles at the points z_f ; see Proposition 4.9. This is immaterial for pairing such forms with the infinitesimal deformations of J, as done in the proof of Proposition 3.2.1 in [18], provided they are supported away from $u_v(z_f)$. Thus, the same argument applies to the restricted operator (1.15); see Lemma 3.1.

In summary, our approach to Theorems 1.1-1.4 involves the appearance of only one universal moduli space. Similarly to the arguments in [18, 20, 22, 23, 26], it runs off the "local universal transversality" of Lemma 3.1. The proof of the "local universal transversality" (in all cases) depends on the ellipticity of a generalized Cauchy-Riemann operator and on Serre Duality for such an operator. In contrast to [18, 20, 22, 23, 26], we obtain "local universal transversality" for generalized Cauchy-Riemann operators on all twistings of u^*TX as in (1.23), instead of just on u^*TX . This results in no additional complications and avoids the delicate arguments on local deformations of *J*-holomorphic maps that underpin the proofs of [18, Theorem 6.3.1] and [26, Lemma A.3].

The complications in constructing GW-pseudocycles in positive genera that arise from J-holomorphic maps that are constant maps on some irreducible components of the domain are avoided in [22, 23] by contracting such irreducible components and producing a so-called GU map. The domains of these maps are Riemann surfaces whose singular points may contain more than two smooth branches; see Sections 2.1 and 2.3. Our approach for establishing Theorems 1.1-1.4 readily extends to spaces of GU maps of a fixed combinatorial type via the "local universal transversality" of Lemma 3.2; see Theorems 2.5 and 2.6.

1.4 Outline and acknowledgments

The relevant notation for the moduli spaces of complex curves and for their covers is set up in Section 2.2. Terminology concerning maps from singular Riemann surfaces is defined Section 2.3. Section 2.4 introduces a version of Ruan-Tian perturbations. We define the spaces

$$\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \subset \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger*}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$$

of basic and reduced GU maps of a fixed combinatorial type and state analogues of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 for them in Section 2.5. These analogues are proved in Sections 3.3 and 3.4. The first of these sections introduces suitable deformation-obstruction settings and then shows that the deformations of Ruan-Tian pairs (J, ν) suffice to cover the obstruction space in all relevant cases; see Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2. By Section 3.4, Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2 ensure the smoothness of the universal moduli space of basic (J, ν) -maps of a fixed combinatorial type. The latter implies the smoothness of the corresponding space of (J, ν) -maps for a fixed pair (J, ν) ; see Proposition 4.4. This then concludes the proof of Theorems 2.5 and 2.6.

The proof of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4, which we omit, is a simplified version of the proof of Theorems 2.5 and 2.6. In particular, it does not require Lemma 3.2. Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 are essentially

the $\operatorname{Ver}_0 = \emptyset$ case of Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 (this case is not formally admissible in the terminology of the two theorems).

The present paper grew out of the author's desire for a systematic treatment of transversality issues arising in various settings in the theory of J-holomorphic curves, including the common ones as in [18, 22, 23] and the more specialized one in [5, 11, 14, 20, 26, 29, 31]. He would like to thank P. Georgieva, J. Starr, and C. Wendl for enlightening discussions that influenced the preparation of the present paper.

2 Spaces of (J, ν) -maps

The Ruan-Tian perturbations ν used to regularize the Cauchy-Riemann equation $\overline{\partial}_{J,j}u = 0$ for maps into an almost complex manifold (X, J) are sections of certain bundles over $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k} \times X$, where $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ is the universal curve (2.8) over a finite cover $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$ as in Definition 2.1 with S = [k]. Unfortunately, the total space of $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ in general has singularities around the nodal points of the fibers of π of the from

$$\{(t, x, y) \in \mathbb{C}^3 : xy = t^m\} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}, \qquad (t, x, y) \longrightarrow t;$$

see the proof of [1, Proposition 1.4]. This causes some difficulty in defining notions of smoothness for bundle sections over $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k} \times X$. The approach of [23, Section 2] to deal with this issue is to embed the universal curve (2.8) into some \mathbb{P}^N . Following a suggestion of P. Georgieva, we bypass such an embedding by using perturbations supported away from the nodes as in [15].

The notions of marked nodal and GU Riemann surfaces are introduced in Section 2.1. The topology of the Deligne-Mumford moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$ of stable genus g S-marked nodal curves and covers $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$ are described in Section 2.2. We introduce GU maps to a manifold in Section 2.3 and Ruan-Tian perturbations in the first half of Section 2.4. In the second half of Section 2.4, we define notions of a GU (J,ν) -map and moduli spaces of (J,ν) -maps in the spirit of [23, Section 3]. In Section 2.5, we define spaces of GU (J,ν) -maps of a fixed combinatorial type and relax the degree restriction in the statements of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4; see Theorems 2.5 and 2.6.

2.1 GU Riemann surfaces

A (smooth) Riemann surface or complex curve is a pair (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) consisting of a compact smooth twodimensional manifold Σ (without boundary) and a complex structure \mathfrak{j} in the fibers of $T\Sigma$. A nodal Riemann surface is a pair (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) obtained from a Riemann surface $(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \mathfrak{j})$ by identifying pairs of distinct points in a finite subset $\widetilde{S}_{\Sigma} \subset \widetilde{\Sigma}$ (with each point of \widetilde{S}_{Σ} identified with precisely one other point of \widetilde{S}_{Σ}); see Figure 1. A GU Riemann surface is a pair (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) obtained from a Riemann surface $(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \mathfrak{j})$ by identifying each point in a finite subset $\widetilde{S}_{\Sigma} \subset \widetilde{\Sigma}$ with at least one other point of \widetilde{S}_{Σ} . In both cases, the pair $(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \mathfrak{j})$ is called the normalization of (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) .

An irreducible component of (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) is the image of a topological component of $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ under the quotient projection

$$q_{\Sigma} \colon \stackrel{\sim}{\Sigma} \longrightarrow \Sigma \,. \tag{2.1}$$



Figure 1: Nodal Riemann surfaces of (arithmetic) genera 1 and 2, respectively

We call the images of the points of \tilde{S}_{Σ} under this map the lumps of Σ . Each lump joins two or more smooth branches. A lump in a nodal surface joins precisely two smooth branches and is thus a node in the usual sense. We denote the set of lumps of a GU Riemann surface (Σ, j) by S_{Σ} and its complement by Σ^* . The (arithmetic) genus of a GU Riemann surface (Σ, j) is the number

$$\mathfrak{a}(\Sigma) = \frac{2 - \chi(\widetilde{\Sigma})}{2} + \left| \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma} \right| - \left| S_{\Sigma} \right|, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\chi(\widetilde{\Sigma})$ is the Euler characteristic of $\widetilde{\Sigma}$.

An equivalence between GU Riemann surfaces (Σ, j) and (Σ', j') is a homeomorphism $h: \Sigma \longrightarrow \Sigma'$ induced by a biholomorphic map \tilde{h} from $(\tilde{\Sigma}, j)$ to $(\tilde{\Sigma}', j')$. A GU map u between GU Riemann surfaces (Σ, j) and (Σ', j') is a holomorphic map \tilde{u} from $(\tilde{\Sigma}_0, j)$, where $\tilde{\Sigma}_0$ is a union of topological components of $\tilde{\Sigma}$, to $(\tilde{\Sigma}', j')$ such that the restriction of \tilde{u} to every topological component of $\tilde{\Sigma}_0$ is not constant. We call the topological components of the closure of $\tilde{\Sigma}-\tilde{\Sigma}_0$ the contracted components of u. Such a map is of degree 1 if $|\tilde{u}^{-1}(z')| = 1$ for every $z' \in \tilde{\Sigma}'$ and $\tilde{u}^{-1}(\tilde{S}_{\Sigma'}) \subset \tilde{S}_{\Sigma}$. A GU morphism between GU Riemann surfaces (Σ, j) and (Σ', j') is a continuous map $u: \Sigma \longrightarrow \Sigma'$ such that the restriction of u to the union Σ_0 of the irreducible components of Σ on which u is not constant is induced by a GU map. We say that such a morphism is of degree 1 if its restriction to Σ_0 is induced by a degree 1 GU map. We call it a contraction if in addition for every $z' \in \Sigma'$ the subset $u^{-1}(z') \subset \Sigma$ is either a point or a connected GU Riemann surface of genus 0.

Let S be a finite set. A genus g S-marked GU Riemann surface is a tuple

$$\mathcal{C} \equiv \left(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z_i)_{i \in S}\right),\tag{2.3}$$

where (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) is a GU Riemann surface of genus g and $z_i \in \widetilde{\Sigma}$. A genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surface is a genus g S-marked GU Riemann surface as in (2.3) such that (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) is a nodal Riemann surface and $z_i \notin \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma}$ are distinct points. Since the restriction of (2.1) to $\widetilde{\Sigma} - \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma}$ is a homeomorphism onto Σ^* , it is customary to view the marked points z_i of a nodal Riemann surface as distinct points of Σ^* . It is also common to index the marked points by the sets

$$[k] \equiv \{i \in \mathbb{Z}^+ : i \leq k\}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\ge 0},$$

but allowing arbitrary finite indexing sets is often more convenient.

An equivalence between a genus g S-marked GU Riemann surface C as in (2.3) and another genus g S-marked GU Riemann surface

$$\mathcal{C}' \equiv \left(\Sigma', \mathfrak{j}', (z_i')_{i \in S}\right) \tag{2.4}$$

is an equivalence h between the GU Riemann surfaces (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) and (Σ', \mathfrak{j}') such that $\tilde{h}(z_i) = z'_i$ for all $i \in S$. We denote by Aut(\mathcal{C}) the group of **automorphisms**, i.e. self-equivalences, of a genus g*S*-marked GU Riemann surface \mathcal{C} . Such a Riemann surface is called stable if Aut(\mathcal{C}) is a finite group.

An S-marked GU map u between S-marked GU Riemann surfaces C and C' as above (not necessarily of the same genus) is a GU map u between the GU Riemann surfaces (Σ, j) and (Σ', j') so that $\tilde{u}(z_i) = z'_i$ for all $i \in S$ such that $z_i \in \text{Dom}(\tilde{u})$ and $z'_i \in \tilde{u}(\tilde{S}_{\Sigma} \cap \text{Dom}(\tilde{u}))$ for all $i \in S$ such that $z_i \notin \text{Dom}(\tilde{u})$. An S-marked GU morphism between C and C' is a GU morphism u between (Σ, j) and (Σ', j') such that $u(q_{\Sigma}(z_i)) = q_{\Sigma'}(z'_i)$ for all $i \in S$.

If $\tilde{\Sigma}_0, \ldots, \tilde{\Sigma}_N$ is a partition of $\tilde{\Sigma}$ into unions of topological components so that $\Sigma_r \equiv q_{\Sigma}(\tilde{\Sigma}_r)$ is disjoint from Σ_s for $r, s \in [N]$ distinct, then

$$\mathfrak{a}(\Sigma) = \sum_{r=0}^{N} \mathfrak{a}(\Sigma_r) + \sum_{r=1}^{N} \left(\left| q_{\Sigma}^{-1}(\Sigma_0) \cap \widetilde{\Sigma}_r \right| - 1 \right).$$
(2.5)

If u is a degree 1 GU morphism from a connected GU surface (Σ, j) to (Σ', j') , $\tilde{\Sigma}_0 \subset \tilde{\Sigma}$ is the domain of the holomorphic map \tilde{u} as above,

$$S_{\Sigma_0} \equiv \{ z \in \Sigma_0 \colon |q_{\Sigma}^{-1}(z) \cap \widetilde{\Sigma}_0| \ge 2 \}$$

are the lumps of Σ_0 , and $\Sigma_1, \ldots, \Sigma_N \subset \Sigma$ are the topological components of $q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma} - \widetilde{\Sigma}_0)$, then

$$\mathfrak{a}(\Sigma') = \mathfrak{a}(\Sigma_0) + \left(|S_{\Sigma_0}| - |u(S_{\Sigma_0})| \right) + \sum_{r=1}^N \left| q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_0) \cap q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_r) - S_{\Sigma_0} \right| - \left| u(\Sigma_1 \cup \ldots \cup \Sigma_N) - u(S_{\Sigma_0}) \right|.$$
(2.6)

If for every $z' \in \Sigma'$ the subset $u^{-1}(z') \subset \Sigma$ is connected, then

$$|u(\Sigma_1 \cup \ldots \cup \Sigma_N) - u(S_{\Sigma_0})| = |\{r \in [N] : q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_0) \cap q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_r) \cap S_{\Sigma_0} = \emptyset\}|.$$

If Σ' is nodal (in addition to *u* being a morphism), then

$$|u(S_{\Sigma_0})| = |S_{\Sigma_0}|, \qquad |q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_0) \cap q_{\Sigma}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_r) \cap S_{\Sigma_0}| \leq 1 \quad \forall r \in [N].$$

Combining the observations in the last two sentences with (2.5) and (2.6), we conclude that $\mathfrak{a}(\Sigma) = \mathfrak{a}(\Sigma')$ if u is a contraction to a nodal Riemann surface (Σ', \mathfrak{j}') .

From the previous sentence, we obtain the following. If u is an S-marked contraction from a connected S-marked nodal Riemann surface C to another S-marked nodal Riemann surface C', then $\mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{C}) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{C}')$ and every contracted topological component Σ_r of u is a genus 0 Riemann surface which shares one or two nodes with the non-contracted part Σ_0 of u and carries at most one marked point z_i . If Σ_r does carry a marked point, then it shares precisely one node with Σ_0 .



Figure 2: A complex-geometric presentation of a flat family of deformations of $C_{\infty} = \pi^{-1}(0)$ and a differential-geometric presentation of these Riemann surfaces.

2.2 Moduli spaces of nodal Riemann surfaces

Let \mathcal{C} be a genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surface as in (2.3). A flat family of deformations of \mathcal{C} is a tuple $(\pi, (s_i)_{i \in S})$, where $\pi: \mathcal{U} \longrightarrow \Delta$ is a holomorphic map from a complex manifold to a neighborhood $\Delta \subset \mathbb{C}^N$ of 0 and $s_i: \Delta \longrightarrow \mathcal{U}$ are holomorphic sections of π , such that

- $\Sigma_{\lambda} \equiv \pi^{-1}(\lambda)$ is a nodal Riemann surface and $s_i(\lambda) \in \Sigma_{\lambda}^*$ are distinct points for each $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^N$,
- $\pi^{-1}(0) = (\Sigma, \mathfrak{j})$ and $s_i(0) = z_i$ for each $i \in S$,
- π is a submersion outside of the nodes of the fibers of π ,
- for every $\lambda^* \equiv (\lambda_1^*, \dots, \lambda_N^*) \in \Delta$ and every node $z^* \in \Sigma_{\lambda^*}$, there exist $i \in [N]$ with $\lambda_i = 0$, neighborhoods Δ_{λ^*} of λ^* in Δ and \mathcal{U}_{z^*} of z^* in \mathcal{U} , and a holomorphic map

$$\Psi: \mathcal{U}_{z^*} \longrightarrow \left\{ \left((\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N), x, y \right) \in \Delta_{\lambda^*} \times \mathbb{C}^2 \colon xy = \lambda_i \right\}$$

such that Ψ is a homeomorphism onto a neighborhood of $(\lambda^*, 0, 0)$ and the composition of Ψ with the projection to Δ_{λ^*} equals $\pi|_{\mathcal{U}_{z^*}}$.

Figure 2 shows such a family from two perspectives.

A sequence of genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surfaces C_r converges to a genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surface C if there exist a flat family of deformations of C as above and $\lambda_r \in \Delta$ for all r sufficiently large such that $\lambda_r \longrightarrow 0$ as $r \longrightarrow \infty$ and the genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surface $(\pi^{-1}(\lambda_r), (s_i(\lambda_r))_{i\in S})$ is equivalent to C_r . This in particular topologizes the set $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$ of the equivalence classes of stable connected genus g S-marked nodal Riemann surfaces. By [13, Theorem 2.7], $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$

- is compact and Hausdorff in the resulting topology,
- contains the subset $\mathcal{M}_{g,S}$ of equivalence classes of stable connected genus g S-marked smooth Riemann surfaces as an open subspace, and
- carries a natural complex orbifold structure of dimension

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{M}_{g,S} = 3g - 3 + |S|.$$

If $2g + |S| \ge 3$, there is a forgetful morphism

$$\mathfrak{f}_{g,S}: \overline{\mathcal{U}}_{g,S} = \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S \sqcup \{+\}} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S};$$

it drops the extra marked point and contracts the unstable irreducible component(s) of the resulting curve if necessary. This morphism determines the universal family over $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, we denote by $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$ the moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,[k]}$ and by $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ its universal family $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{g,[k]}$.

For a tuple $\mathscr{D} \equiv (g_1, S_1; g_2, S_2)$ consisting of $g_1, g_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ with $g = g_1 + g_2$ and $S_1, S_2 \subset S$ with $S = S_1 \sqcup S_2$, denote by

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathscr{D}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$$

the closure of the subspace of marked curves with two irreducible components Σ_1 and Σ_2 of genera g_1 and g_2 , respectively, and carrying the marked points indexed by S_1 and S_2 , respectively. Let

$$\iota_{\mathscr{D}} \colon \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_1, S_1 \sqcup \{+\}} \times \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_2, S_2 \sqcup \{+\}} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g, S}$$

be the natural immersion with image $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{\mathscr{D}}$ (it identifies the two extra marked points into a node). We denote by $\operatorname{Div}_{q,S}$ the set of tuples \mathscr{D} as above.

Definition 2.1. Suppose $g \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and S is a finite set so that $2g + |S| \geq 3$. Let

$$\mathfrak{p} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S} \tag{2.7}$$

be a finite branched cover in the orbifold category. A universal curve over $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{q,S}$ is a tuple

$$\left(\pi: \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,S} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}, (s_i)_{i \in S}\right),$$
 (2.8)

where $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,S}$ is a projective variety and π is a projective morphism with disjoint sections s_i , such that for each $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$ the tuple $(\pi^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}), (s_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}))_{i\in S})$ is a stable genus g S marked nodal Riemann surface whose equivalence class is $\mathfrak{p}(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}})$.

Definition 2.2. Suppose $g \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and S is a finite set so that $2g+|S| \geq 3$. A cover (2.7) is regular if it admits a universal curve and for every element $\mathscr{D} \equiv (g_1, S_1; g_2, S_2)$ of $\text{Div}_{g,S}$ there exist covers $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g_i,S_i \sqcup \{+\}}$ of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_i,S_i \sqcup \{+\}}$ such that

$$\left(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_1,S_1\sqcup\{+\}}\times\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g_2,S_2\sqcup\{+\}}\right)\times_{(\iota_{\mathscr{D}},\mathfrak{p})}\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}\approx\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g_1,S_1\sqcup\{+\}}\times\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g_2,S_2\sqcup\{+\}}.$$

The moduli space $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{0,S}$ is a complex manifold isomorphic to a blowup of $(\mathbb{P}^1)^{|S|-3}$. It can be embedded into $(\mathbb{P}^1)^N$ for N = N(|S|) sufficiently large; see [18, Appendix D]. The universal family over $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{0,S}$ satisfies the requirement of Definition 2.1. For $g \ge 2$, [1, Theorems 2.2,3.9] provide covers (2.7) satisfying the last requirement of Definition 2.2 so that the orbifold fiber product

$$\pi : \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k} \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S} \otimes_{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}} \overline{\mathcal{U}}_{g,S} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,S}$$
(2.9)

satisfies the requirement of Definition 2.1; see also [21, Section 2.2]. The same reasoning applies in the g=1 case if $S \neq \emptyset$.

2.3 Maps from GU domains

Let X be a manifold. If Σ is a connected smooth orientable surface, a C^1 -map $u: \Sigma \longrightarrow X$ is

- somewhere injective if there exists $z \in \Sigma$ such that $u^{-1}(u(z)) = \{z\}$ and $d_z u \neq 0$,
- multiply covered if $u = u' \circ h$ for some connected smooth orientable surface Σ' , branched cover $h: \Sigma \longrightarrow \Sigma'$ of degree different from ± 1 , and a C^1 -map $u': \Sigma' \longrightarrow X$,
- simple if it is not multiply covered.

By [33, Proposition 4.11], a simple *J*-holomorphic map is somewhere injective.

Let $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+ \sqcup \{\infty\}$ and (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) be a GU Riemann surface (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) . A continuous map $u: \Sigma \longrightarrow X$ is a C^{ℓ} -map if the induced map $\tilde{u}: \tilde{\Sigma} \longrightarrow X$ is C^{ℓ} . The degree of a C^{ℓ} -map $u: \Sigma \longrightarrow X$ is the homology class

$$A \equiv u_*[\Sigma] = \widetilde{u}_*[\widetilde{\Sigma}] \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}).$$
(2.10)

If in addition $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$, we define

$$\bar{\partial}_{J,\mathbf{j}}u = \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{d}\widetilde{u} + J \circ \mathrm{d}\widetilde{u} \circ \mathbf{j}) \colon (T\widetilde{\Sigma}, -\mathbf{j}) \longrightarrow \widetilde{u}^*(TX, J)$$

A C^{ℓ} -map $u: \Sigma \longrightarrow X$ is J-holomorphic if $\bar{\partial}_{J,i} u = 0$.

Let S be a finite set. An S-marked GU C^{ℓ} -map is a tuple $\mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathcal{C}, u)$, where \mathcal{C} is an S-marked GU Riemann surface as in (2.3) and u is a C^{ℓ} -map from (Σ, \mathbf{j}) . We call such a tuple

- (1) reduced if the restriction of \tilde{u} to every topological component of $\tilde{\Sigma}$ is simple and the images of any two such components under \tilde{u} are distinct;
- (2) basic if **u** is reduced, $z_i \in \widetilde{\Sigma} \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma}$ for every $i \in S$, and these points are distinct.

If (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) is an S-marked nodal Riemann surface, then a reduced C^{ℓ} -map is basic. An S-marked GU C^{ℓ} -map \mathbf{u} as above is equivalent to another S-marked C^{ℓ} -map (\mathcal{C}', u') if there exists an equivalence h between \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{C}' such that $u = u' \circ h$. An S-marked GU C^{ℓ} -map \mathbf{u} is stable if its group of automorphisms is finite.

For $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, $g \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, and $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$, let $\mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A; J)$ be the space of equivalence classes of stable *J*-holomorphic maps from connected smooth genus *g S*-marked GU Riemann surfaces. It inherits a topology from the space of smooth maps into *X*. Denote by

$$\mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger *}(A;J), \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}(A;J) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A;J)$$

the subspaces of reduced maps and of maps from domains with distinct marked points. Let

$$\mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^*(A;J) \equiv \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger *}(A;J) \cap \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}(A;J) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A;J)$$

the subspaces of basic maps. For each $i \in S$, let

$$\operatorname{ev}_i \colon \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A;J) \longrightarrow X, \qquad \left[\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z_j)_{j \in S}, u\right] \longrightarrow u(z_i),$$

be the evaluation map for the *i*-th marked point.

For $A \neq 0$, the map

$$\mathfrak{f}:\mathfrak{M}_{g,S\sqcup\{+\}}^{\dagger}(A;J)\longrightarrow\mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A;J),\quad \left[\Sigma,\mathfrak{j},(z_{i})_{i\in S\sqcup\{+\}},u\right]\longrightarrow\left[\Sigma,\mathfrak{j},(z_{i})_{i\in S},u\right],\tag{2.11}$$

is a well-defined continuous orbi-bundle. The fiber of \mathfrak{f} over $[\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z_i)_{i \in S}, u]$ is the quotient of Σ by $\operatorname{Aut}(\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z_i)_{i \in S}, u)$. The tangent spaces to the fibers determine a complex line orbi-bundle

$$\mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{g,S \sqcup \{+\}}(A;J) \,.$$

For each $i \in S$, let

$$s_i \colon \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A;J) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}_{g,S \sqcup \{+\}}^{\dagger}(A;J)$$

be the section such that

$$s_i\big([\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z_j)_{j \in S}, u]\big) = \big[\Sigma, \mathfrak{j}, (z'_j)_{j \in S \sqcup \{+\}}, u\big], \quad z'_j = \begin{cases} z_j, & \text{if } j \in S; \\ z_i, & \text{if } j = +. \end{cases}$$

The complex line orbi-bundle

$$L_i \equiv s_i^* \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}_{g,S}^{\dagger}(A; J)$$
(2.12)

is called the universal tangent line bundle for the i-th marked point.

The direct analogue of the line bundle (2.12) can be similarly defined over the space of equivalence classes of stable C^{ℓ} -maps from connected smooth genus g S-marked GU Riemann surfaces and for A=0 (after suitably restricting the domain of \mathfrak{f} in (2.11)). The restriction of (2.12) to $\mathfrak{M}_{g,S}(A;J)$ naturally extends over Gromov's space of equivalence classes of stable nodal J-holomorphic maps into X, but this is not relevant for the purposes of the present paper.

2.4 Ruan-Tian perturbations

Let $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ with $2g + k \geq 3$ and \mathfrak{p} as in (2.7) be a regular cover with S = [k]. We denote by $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ the complement of the nodes of the fibers of π in (2.8) and by

$$\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p} \equiv \ker \mathrm{d}(\pi|_{\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^*}) \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^*$$

the vertical tangent bundle. The latter is a complex line bundle; let $j_{\mathcal{U}}$ denote its complex structure.

Let X be a manifold and

$$\pi_1, \pi_2 \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^*, X$$

be the projection maps. For a section ν of a bundle E over $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X$, we denote by $\operatorname{supp}(\nu)$ the closure of the set

$$\left\{(z,x)\in\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^*\times X\colon\nu(z,x)\neq 0\right\}\subset\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}\times X$$

in $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{q,k} \times X$. For $J \in \mathcal{J}(X)$, let

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{p}}^{0,1}(X;J) = \Big\{ \nu \in \Gamma \big(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X; \pi_1^*(\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p}, -\mathfrak{j}_{\mathcal{U}})^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \pi_2^*(TX, J) \big): \\ \operatorname{supp}(\nu) \subset \big(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* - \bigcup_{i=1}^k \operatorname{Im}(s_i) \big) \times X \Big\}.$$

$$(2.13)$$

The condition that $\operatorname{supp}(\nu)$ be disjoint from the sections s_i is needed to define analogues of the bundle sections (1.7) in Section 2.5.

Define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X) = \{ (J,\nu) \colon J \in \mathcal{J}(X), \ \nu \in \Gamma^{0,1}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X;J) \}.$$

$$(2.14)$$

If in addition ω is a symplectic form on X, let

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(X) \subset \mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X)$$
(2.15)

be the subspaces of pairs (J, ν) so that $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X)$ and $J \in \mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(X)$, respectively.

Definition 2.3. Suppose $g, g', k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ with $2g+k \geq 3$, \mathfrak{p} as in (2.7) is a regular cover, (X, J) is an almost complex manifold, and $\nu \in \Gamma^{0,1}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X; J)$. A genus g' k-marked $\mathsf{GU}(J, \nu)$ -map is a tuple

$$\mathbf{u} \equiv \left(\mathcal{C}, u_{\mathcal{M}} \colon \Sigma \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}, u \colon \Sigma \longrightarrow X\right),\tag{2.16}$$

where C is a connected genus g' k-marked GU Riemann surface as in (2.3), $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ is a degree 1 k-marked GU map onto a fiber C' of (2.8), and u is a C^1 -map such that

$$\bar{\partial}_{J,j}\widetilde{u}\big|_{z} = \begin{cases} \nu(\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}(z),\widetilde{u}(z)) \circ d_{z}\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}, & \text{if } z \in \text{Dom}(\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}); \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.4. Suppose $g, g', k, \mathfrak{p}, (X, J)$, and ν are as in Definition 2.3. A (J, ν) -map **u** as in (2.16) is

- (1) reduced if the restriction of \tilde{u} to every contracted component of $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ is somewhere injective and the images of any two such components under \tilde{u} are distinct;
- (2) basic if **u** is reduced and $z_i \in \widetilde{\Sigma} \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma}$ are distinct points.

The degree of a GU (J, ν) -map (2.16) is the degree of u as in (2.10). We call a GU (J, ν) -map **u** as in (2.16) a nodal (J, ν) -morphism if C is a k-marked nodal Riemann surface and $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ is an S-marked contraction to a fiber C' of (2.8); see Section 2.1. This implies that g' = g and that $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}$ does not contract any loops of spheres. A reduced nodal (J, ν) -morphism is automatically basic.

A (J, ν) -map **u** as in (2.16) is equivalent to another (J, ν) -map

$$\mathbf{u}' \equiv \left(\mathcal{C}', u'_{\mathcal{M}} \colon \Sigma' \to \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}, u' \colon \Sigma' \to X\right)$$

if there exists an equivalence h between \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{C}' such that

$$\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}} = \widetilde{u}'_{\mathcal{M}} \circ \widetilde{h} \big|_{\operatorname{Dom}(\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}})}$$
 and $u = u' \circ h$.

A (J, ν) -map **u** is stable if its group of automorphisms is finite. This is the case if and only if the degree of the restriction of \tilde{u} to every contracted component of $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ containing only one or two special (nodal or marked) points is not zero.

For $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, let

$$\dim_{g,k}(A) = \left\langle c_1(TX), A \right\rangle + (n-3)(1-g) + k, \quad \text{where} \quad 2n \equiv \dim_{\mathbb{R}} X.$$
(2.17)

For $(J,\nu) \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X)$, we denote by $\overline{\mathfrak{M}}_{g,k}(A; J, \nu)$ the moduli space of equivalences classes of stable degree A genus g k-marked nodal (J, ν) -morphisms and by

$$\mathfrak{M}_{g,k}(A;J,\nu) \subset \overline{\mathfrak{M}}_{g,k}(A;J,\nu)$$

the subspace of maps from smooth domains; all of these maps are basic in the sense of Definition 2.4. This subspace inherits a topology from the space of smooth maps into X. The map

$$\mathsf{st} \times \mathsf{ev} \colon \mathfrak{M}_{g,k}(A; J, \nu) \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k} \times X^k, \quad \left[\mathcal{C}, u_{\mathcal{M}}, u\right] \longrightarrow \left(\mathfrak{p}(\pi(u_{\mathcal{M}}(\Sigma))), (u(z_i))_{i \in [k]}\right), \tag{2.18}$$

is continuous with respect to this topology.

Let B be a manifold, possibly with boundary. Denote by

$$\pi_B, \pi_\mathcal{U}, \pi_X \colon B \times \mathcal{U}_{g,k}^* \times X \longrightarrow B, \mathcal{U}_{g,k}^*, X$$

the projection maps. For

$$\nu \in \Gamma\left(B \times \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X; \pi_{\mathcal{U}}^* \mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p}^* \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \pi_X^* TX\right)$$

and $b \in B$, let

$$\nu_b \in \Gamma\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X; \pi_1^* \mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p}^* \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \pi_2^* TX\right)$$

be the associated bundle section. Define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B;X) = \left\{ (J,\nu) \in \mathcal{J}(B;X) \times \Gamma\left(B \times \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}^* \times X; \pi_{\mathcal{U}}^* \mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p}^* \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \pi_X^* TX\right) : (J_b,\nu_b) \in \mathcal{H}_p(X) \ \forall \ b \in B \right\}$$

For $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, denote by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B;X)$$

the subspaces of pairs (J,ν) so that $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X)$ and $J \in \mathcal{J}'_{\omega}(X)$, respectively. For (J_{\circ},ν_{\circ}) in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(\partial B;X), \mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(\partial B;X)$, or $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(\partial B;X)$, define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\omega;J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(B;X), \quad \mathcal{H}'_{\omega;J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}(B;X), \quad \mathcal{H}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B;X),$$

respectively, analogously to (1.8).

2.5 Transversality for (J, ν) -maps

The general structure of GU Riemann surfaces and GU *J*-holomorphic maps are described by graph-like combinatorial objects. An edge of a graph is an element of the two-fold symmetric product of the set of vertices or equivalently a two-element subset of the set of flags (an edge either joins two different vertices or goes from a vertex back to itself). However, the topological types of GU Riemann surfaces correspond to more complicated objects, which we call GU graphs below. An edge of a GU graph is an *m*-element subset of the set of flags for some $m \ge 2$. All these objects are defined below.

Let S be a finite set. An S-marked GU graph is a tuple

$$\gamma \equiv (\mathfrak{g}: \operatorname{Ver} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}, \varepsilon: S \sqcup \operatorname{Fl} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}, \operatorname{Edg}), \tag{2.19}$$

where Ver and Fl are finite sets (of vertices and flags, respectively) and Edg is a partition of Fl into subsets e with $|e| \ge 2$. An S-marked graph is an S-marked GU graph as in (2.19) such that |e|=2 for every $e \in Edg$. An S-marked graph can be depicted as in the left and middle diagrams of Figure 3 on page 21, where $S = \{1, 2\}$ and a line segment connects each label $i \in S$ with $\varepsilon(i) \in Ver$. An example of a GU graph which is not a graph is represented by the right diagram of Figure 3, along with the specifications in the two lines above its caption. Let

$$\mathfrak{a}(\gamma) \equiv 1 + \sum_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \mathfrak{g}(v) - |\operatorname{Ver}| + |\operatorname{Fl}| - |\operatorname{Edg}|$$
(2.20)

be the arithmetic genus of γ .

For $f \in Fl$, we denote by $e_f \in Edg$ the unique element of Edg containing f. For each $v \in Ver$, let

$$S_v(\gamma) = \varepsilon^{-1}(v) \subset S \sqcup \text{Fl.}$$
(2.21)

A vertex $v \in Ver$ of γ is trivalent if

$$2\mathfrak{g}(v) + |S_v(\gamma)| \ge 3. \tag{2.22}$$

The GU graph γ is trivalent if all its vertices are trivalent. The GU graph γ is connected if for all $v, v' \in Ver$ distinct there exist

$$m \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \ f_1^-, f_1^+, \dots, f_m^-, f_m^+ \in \mathrm{Fl} \quad \text{s.t.} \\ \varepsilon(f_1^-) = v, \ \varepsilon(f_m^+) = v', \ \varepsilon(f_i^+) = \varepsilon(f_{i+1}^-) \ \forall i \in [m-1], \ e_{f_i^-} = e_{f_i^+} \ \forall i \in [m].$$

An equivalence between an S-marked GU graph as in (2.19) and another S-marked GU graph

$$\gamma' \equiv \left(\mathfrak{g}' : \operatorname{Ver}' \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}, \varepsilon' : S \sqcup \operatorname{Fl}' \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}', \operatorname{Edg}'\right)$$
(2.23)

is a pair of bijections h_{Ver} : Ver \longrightarrow Ver' and h_{Fl} : Fl \longrightarrow Fl' such that

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}' \circ h_{\mathrm{Ver}}, \quad h_{\mathrm{Ver}} \circ \varepsilon |_{S} = \varepsilon' |_{S}, \quad h_{\mathrm{Ver}} \circ \varepsilon |_{\mathrm{Fl}} = \varepsilon' \circ h_{\mathrm{Fl}}, \quad h_{\mathrm{Fl}}(e) \in \mathrm{Edg}' \,\,\forall \, e \in \mathrm{Edg}.$$

For $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, let $\mathcal{A}_{g,k}$ denote the (finite) set of (equivalence classes of) connected trivalent graphs γ as in (2.19) with S = [k] and $\mathfrak{a}(\gamma) = g$. This set is empty unless $2g + k \geq 3$.

Let γ be as in (2.19). An S-marked GU Riemann surface C as in (2.3) is of combinatorial type γ if the set of the topological components of $\tilde{\Sigma}$ and the set \tilde{S}_{Σ} of the lump branches of Σ can be identified with the sets Ver and Fl, respectively, so that

- the genus of the topological component $\widetilde{\Sigma}_v$ of $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ corresponding to $v \in \text{Ver}$ is $\mathfrak{g}(v)$,
- $z_i \in \widetilde{\Sigma}_{\varepsilon(i)}$ for each $i \in S$ and $z_f \in \widetilde{\Sigma}_{\varepsilon(f)}$ for each $f \in Fl$, where $z_f \in \widetilde{S}_{\Sigma}$ is the point corresponding to f,
- for $f, f' \in \text{Fl}, q_{\Sigma}(z_f) = q_{\Sigma}(z_{f'})$ if and only if $f, f' \in e$ for some $e \in \text{Edg}$.

Let $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$. A degree A k-marked GU graph is a tuple

$$\gamma \equiv \left((\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{d}) \colon \operatorname{Ver} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0} \oplus H_2(X; \mathbb{Z}), \varepsilon \colon [k] \sqcup \operatorname{Fl} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}, \operatorname{Edg} \right)$$
(2.24)

such that the tuple

 $\gamma_{\mathcal{M}} \equiv \left(\mathfrak{g} \colon \operatorname{Ver} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}, \varepsilon \colon [k] \sqcup \operatorname{Fl} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}, \operatorname{Edg}\right)$

is a k-marked GU graph and

$$\sum_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \mathfrak{d}(v) = A, \qquad \left\langle \omega, \mathfrak{d}(v) \right\rangle \ge 0 \quad \forall \ v \in \operatorname{Ver}.$$
(2.25)

Let $\mathfrak{a}(\gamma)$ denote the arithmetic genus $\mathfrak{a}(\gamma_{\mathcal{M}})$ of $\gamma_{\mathcal{M}}$ as in (2.20) and

$$\dim(\gamma) = \langle c_1(TX), A \rangle + (n-3)(1-\mathfrak{a}(\gamma)) + k - 2|\mathrm{Fl}| + 3|\mathrm{Edg}|.$$
(2.26)

We say that a k-marked C^1 -map $\mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathcal{C}, u)$ is of combinatorial type γ if the k-marked GU Riemann surface \mathcal{C} is combinatorial type $\gamma_{\mathcal{M}}$ and for every $v \in Ver$ the degree of the restriction of u to the irreducible component $\Sigma_v \subset \Sigma$ corresponding to v is $\mathfrak{d}(v)$.

The general structure of a GU (J, ν) -map **u** as in (2.16) is specified by triples $(\gamma; \gamma', \varpi)$, with

- γ as in (2.24) describing the X-component u of \mathbf{u} ,
- γ' as in (2.23) describing the fiber \mathcal{C}' of (2.8) containing the image of $u_{\mathcal{M}}$, and
- ϖ describing the GU map from \mathcal{C} to \mathcal{C}' .

This is made precise below.

Let γ be as in (2.19). Denote by $\mathcal{A}(\gamma)$ the collection of pairs (γ_0, ϖ) , where

$$\gamma_0 \equiv \left(\mathfrak{g}_0 \colon \operatorname{Ver}_0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}, \varepsilon_0 \colon [k] \sqcup \operatorname{Fl}_0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}_0, \operatorname{Edg}_0\right)$$
(2.27)

is a connected k-marked GU graph with $\operatorname{Ver}_0 \subset \operatorname{Ver}$ and $\operatorname{Fl}_0 \subset \operatorname{Fl} \cap \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)$ and

$$\varpi \colon [k] - \varepsilon^{-1} (\operatorname{Ver}_0) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Fl} \cap \varepsilon^{-1} (\operatorname{Ver}_0) - \operatorname{Fl}_0$$
(2.28)

is an injective map, such that

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{g}|_{\operatorname{Ver}_0}, \quad \varepsilon_0|_{([k] \cap \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)) \sqcup \operatorname{Fl}_0} = \varepsilon|_{([k] \cap \varepsilon^{-1}_0(\operatorname{Ver})) \sqcup \operatorname{Fl}_0}, \tag{2.29}$$

$$\varepsilon_0|_{[k]-\varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)} = \varepsilon \circ \varpi \colon [k] - \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ver}_0.$$
(2.30)

Thus, γ_0 is obtained from γ by

- dropping every vertex $v \in \operatorname{Ver} \operatorname{Ver}_0$,
- combining some of the flags in $\operatorname{Fl} \cap \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)$ into the elements of Edg_0 ,
- attaching each marked point $i \in [k] \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)$ in place of one of the remaining flags $f = \varpi(i)$ in $\operatorname{Fl} \cap \varepsilon^{-1}(\operatorname{Ver}_0)$.



Figure 3: A graph γ_0 as in (2.27), a graph $\gamma = \gamma_1$ as in (2.19), and a GU graph $\gamma = \gamma_2$ as in (2.19) such that $(\gamma_0, \varpi_1) \in \mathcal{A}(\gamma_1)$ and $(\gamma_0, \varpi_2) \in \mathcal{A}(\gamma_2)$ for some $\varpi_1(1)$ and $\varpi_2(1)$. The value of \mathfrak{g} on the vertices with the number 1 next to them is 1; its value on the remaining vertices of γ_0 and γ_1 is 0.

Examples of pairs $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}(\gamma)$ appear in Figure 3.

For $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ and a k-marked GU graph γ as in (2.19), let $\mathcal{A}_g(\gamma)$ denote the subset of pairs $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}(\gamma)$ so that $\gamma_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{g,k}$. For $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$ and a degree A k-marked GU graph γ as in (2.24), denote by $\mathcal{A}_g(\gamma) \subset \mathcal{A}_g(\gamma_{\mathcal{M}})$ the subset of pairs (γ_0, ϖ) with γ_0 as in (2.27) so that $\mathfrak{d}(v) \neq 0$ for all $v \in \text{Ver} - \text{Ver}_0$.

Suppose γ is as in (2.19) with S = [k], γ_0 is as in (2.27), C is a k-marked GU Riemann surface of type γ as in (2.3), and C' is an S-marked nodal Riemann surface of type γ_0 as in (2.4). If $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ is a degree 1 k-marked map from C to C', we can identify Ver₀ and Fl₀ with subsets of Ver and Fl, respectively, so that

$$\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}(\widetilde{\Sigma}_v) = \widetilde{\Sigma}'_v \quad \forall v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0, \qquad \widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{M}}(z_f) = z'_f \quad \forall f \in \operatorname{Fl}_0,$$

and the assumptions in (2.29) are satisfied; see Section 2.1. Since \mathcal{C}' is nodal, there also exists a unique injective map ϖ as in (2.28) satisfying (2.30); if \mathcal{C}' were not nodal, ϖ might not have been injective and might have taken values in Fl₀. We define the combinatorial type of $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ to be the pair $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}(\gamma)$.

Suppose γ is as in (2.24), $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}_g(\gamma_{\mathcal{M}})$, and \mathfrak{p} as in (2.7) is a regular cover. For $(J, \nu) \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X)$, let $\mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$ denote the space of equivalence classes of stable GU (J,ν) -maps \mathbf{u} as in (2.16) so that the degree 1 *S*-marked map $u_{\mathcal{M}}$ is of combinatorial type (γ_0, ϖ) and the *k*-marked C^1 -map $(\mathcal{C}, \mathbf{u})$ is of combinatorial type γ . For a manifold *B*, possibly with boundary, and $(J,\nu) \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B;X)$, let

$$\mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi}(J,\nu) = \{(b,[\mathbf{u}]) \colon b \in B, \ [\mathbf{u}] \in \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi}(J_{b},\nu_{b})\}.$$

These spaces inherit topologies from spaces of smooth maps from smooth domains.

For each $i \in [k]$, let

$$\operatorname{ev}_i : \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \longrightarrow X \quad \text{and} \quad L_i \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$$
 (2.31)

be the natural evaluation map and the universal tangent line bundle, respectively, for the i-th marked point; these are pullbacks from one of the factors. Denote by

$$\mathsf{st}\colon \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi}(J,\nu) \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}, \quad \left[\mathcal{C}, u_{\mathcal{M}}, u\right] \longrightarrow \mathfrak{p}\left(\pi(u_{\mathcal{M}}(\Sigma))\right), \tag{2.32}$$

the stabilization map. Let

$$\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \subset \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger*}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$$

be the subspaces of basic and reduced maps, respectively.

For a tuple $\mathfrak{m} \equiv (m_i)_{i \in [k]}$ in $(\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$, define

$$\mathcal{Z}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J,\nu) \subset \mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu) \quad \text{and} \\ \mathfrak{D}^{m_i+1} \in \Gamma\left(\mathcal{Z}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J,\nu); L_i^{*\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(m_i+1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathsf{ev}^*_i(TX,J)\right)$$
(2.33)

as in (1.6) and (1.7) with $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$ in place of $\mathfrak{M}^*_{0,k}(A;J)$. These are well-defined because the X component u of a (J,ν) -map \mathbf{u} as in (2.16) is J-holomorphic on a neighborhood of every marked point z_i of \mathcal{C} by (2.13).

Theorem 2.5. Let g, k, \mathfrak{p} be as in Definition 2.3. If B_{\circ} and X are manifolds (without boundary), then there exists a ubiquitous subset

$$\widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X) \tag{2.34}$$

with the following properties.

(1) If $B^1_{\circ}, B^2_{\circ}, \ldots$ are the topological components of B_{\circ} , then

$$\widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X) = \widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}^{1};X) \times \widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}^{2};X) \times \dots$$

- (2) For all $(J,\nu) \in \widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)$, $A \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})$, degree A k-marked GU graphs γ , and $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}_g(\gamma)$,
 - (2a) $\mathfrak{M}^{\dagger *}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$ is a smooth manifold of dimension $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} B_{\circ} + 2\dim(\gamma)$, and the maps ev_i in (2.31) and st in (2.32) are smooth,
 - (2b) $\mathcal{Z}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J,\nu)$ is a smooth submanifold of $\mathfrak{M}^{\dagger*}_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi}(J,\nu)$ of codimension $(\dim_{\mathbb{R}} X)|\mathfrak{m}|$, and the section \mathfrak{D}^{m_i+1} in (2.33) is smooth and transverse to the zero set for all $\mathfrak{m} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$ and $i \in [k]$.
- (3) For all $(J,\nu) \in \widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)$ and manifolds B with boundary $\partial B = B_{\circ}$, there exists a ubiquitous subset

$$\widehat{\mathcal{H}}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \tag{2.35}$$

satisfying the properties in (2) with B_{\circ} and manifold replaced by B and manifold with boundary so that

$$\partial \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger *}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi}(J,\nu) = \mathfrak{M}^{\dagger *}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi}(J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}), \quad \partial \mathcal{Z}^{*}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J,\nu) = \mathcal{Z}^{*}_{\gamma;\gamma_{0},\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}).$$
(2.36)

(4) An orientation on B_{\circ} determines orientations on all spaces in (2) so that (3) holds in the category of oriented manifolds.

For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, the same statements hold with $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ replaced by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$ and $\mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$.

Theorem 2.6. If B_{\circ} , X, $g, k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, and \mathfrak{p} are as in Theorem 2.5 and $h: Y \longrightarrow X^k$ is a smooth map from a manifold, then there exists a ubiquitous subset as in (2.34) satisfying (1) in Theorem 2.5 and the following properties.

(1) For all $(J,\nu) \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)$, γ , (γ_0,ϖ) , and $\mathfrak{m} \in (\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0})^k$ as Theorem 2.5(2), the properties (2a) and (2b) in Theorem 2.5 are satisfied and the map

$$\mathsf{ev} \equiv \mathsf{ev}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathsf{ev}_k \colon \mathcal{Z}^*_{\gamma;\gamma_0,\varpi;\mathfrak{m}}(J,\nu) \longrightarrow X^k \tag{2.37}$$

is transverse to h.

(2) For all (J_{\circ}, ν_{\circ}) and B as in Theorem 2.5(3), there exists a ubiquitous subset as in (2.35) satisfying the conditions in Theorem 2.5(3) and the additional condition in (1) above.

For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, the same statements hold with $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ replaced by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$ and $\mathcal{H}'_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$.

3 Proof of Theorems 1.3-2.6

In light of Propositions 4.4 and 4.5, Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 come down to Proposition 3.5. It is in turn a consequence of Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2, which concern simple *J*-holomorphic maps from a smooth connected domain and from components Σ_v of (J, ν) -maps **u** as in (2.16) not contracted by $u_{\mathcal{M}}$, respectively. The substance of these lemmas is that the admissible deformations of *J* in the first case and of ν in the second supported in an open set *W* intersecting the image of a map cover the cokernel of the linearization of the $\bar{\partial}_J$ -operator, in the first case, and of the $\bar{\partial}_J - \nu|_{\Sigma_v}$ -operator in the second.

For the remainder of Section 3, we fix $g, k, \mathfrak{p}, X, B_{\circ}, B$, and h as in Theorems 2.5 and 2.6. We denote by n half the real dimension of X, as before. Since the collection of tuples $(A, \gamma, \gamma_0, \varpi)$ as in the two theorems is countable, it is sufficient to find ubiquitous subsets satisfying the required properties for each such tuple $(A, \gamma, \gamma_0, \varpi)$. We thus also fix $A \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$, a degree A k-marked GU graphs γ as in (2.24), and $(\gamma_0, \varpi) \in \mathcal{A}_q(\gamma)$ with γ_0 as in (2.27) and ϖ as in (2.28). Let

$$\operatorname{Ver}_0^c = \operatorname{Ver} - \operatorname{Ver}_0.$$

We denote by $\operatorname{Aut}(\gamma)$ the group of automorphisms of γ and by $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ the group of holomorphic automorphisms of \mathbb{P}^1 .

3.1 Baire spaces and ubiquitousness

We first discuss the significance of the ubiquitous property in the contexts such as those of Theorems 1.1-1.4, 2.5, and 2.6. A Baire space is a topological space \mathcal{J} such that every ubiquitous subset $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ of \mathcal{J} is dense in \mathcal{J} . By Baire Category Theorem [19, Theorem 48.2], every complete metric is a Baire space. Along with [19, Theorem 43.6], this implies that the three spaces in (1.1) and the three spaces in (2.15) are Baire spaces. A less direct, but more structural geometric, reasoning for this appears below. A Fréchet vector space is a vector space V with a topology induced by a complete translationinvariant metric d, i.e.

$$d: \mathcal{J} \times \mathcal{J} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \qquad d(v_1 + w, v_2 + w) = d(v_1, v_2) \quad \forall v_1, v_2, w \in V.$$

For $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, a C^{ℓ} Fréchet manifold \mathcal{J} is a Hausdorff topological space locally modeled on Fréchet vector spaces with C^{ℓ} -overlaps between the charts. In other words, \mathcal{J} comes with an atlas $(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ of charts, where each $U_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{J}$ is an open subset and $\varphi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \longrightarrow V_{\alpha}$ is a homeomorphism onto an open subset of Fréchet vector space, such that the overlap maps

$$\varphi_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \varphi_{\alpha} \circ \varphi_{\beta}^{-1} \colon \varphi_{\beta} \big(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \big) \longrightarrow \varphi_{\alpha} \big(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \big), \qquad \alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{A},$$

are C^{ℓ} -diffeomorphisms between open subspaces of Fréchet vector spaces. Since a C^{ℓ} Fréchet manifold is locally modeled on Fréchet vector spaces, it is a Baire space.

Let (X, g, ∇) be a (smooth finite-dimensional) manifold with a metric and connection on TX and $(E, |\cdot|^E, \nabla^E)$ be a (smooth finite-rank) vector bundle over X with a norm and a connection. For each ℓ in $\mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0} \sqcup \{\infty\}$, the space $\Gamma^{\ell}(X; V)$ of C^{ℓ} -sections of E is a Fréchet vector space with respect to the metric d_E^{ℓ} given by

$$d_{E}^{\ell}(s_{1},s_{2}) = \sup_{x \in X} \sum_{m=0}^{\ell} 2^{-m} \min\left(|\underbrace{\nabla^{E} \dots \nabla^{E}}_{m}(s_{1}-s_{2})|^{E}, 1\right) \qquad \forall \ s_{1}, s_{2} \in \Gamma^{\ell}(X;V);$$

this follows from [19, Theorem 43.6]. If X is compact, the topology induced by this norm is independent of the choices of $g, \nabla, |\cdot|^E, \nabla^E$.

The space $\mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$ of C^{ℓ} almost complex structures on X is a (smooth) Fréchet manifold with the tangent bundle described by

$$T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X) = \left\{ A \in \Gamma^{\ell}(X; \operatorname{End}(TX)) : JA = -AJ \right\} \quad \forall J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X).$$
(3.1)

The charts $(U_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})$ are the inverses of the maps

$$T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X), \qquad A \longrightarrow J e^{JA},$$
(3.2)

restricted to sufficiently small neighborhoods of 0 in each $T_J \mathcal{J}$. Since the space $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(X)$ of C^{ℓ} almost complex structures on X tamed by a symplectic form ω on X is an open subset of $\mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$, $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(X)$ is also a Fréchet manifold with the tangent bundle described by (3.1) with $\mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$ replaced by $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(X)$. The space $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\ell}(X)$ of C^{ℓ} ω -compatible almost complex structures on X is a Fréchet manifold as well. Its tangent bundle is described by

$$T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(X) = \left\{ A \in T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X) \colon \omega(A \cdot, \cdot) = -\omega(\cdot, A \cdot) \right\} \quad \forall J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(X).$$
(3.3)

Local charts on $\mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(X)$ are obtained by restricting (3.2) to $T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(X)$.

Let B be a manifold, possibly with boundary, and X and ℓ be as above. Denote by

$$\pi_X \colon B \times X \longrightarrow X$$

the projection to the second component, by $\mathcal{J}^{\ell}(B;X)$ the space of C^{ℓ} fiberwise complex structures on the vector bundle π_X^*TX , and by $\operatorname{Symp}(B;X)$ the space of smooth fiberwise symplectic structures on π_X^*TX . For $J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(B;X)$, $\omega \in \operatorname{Symp}(B;X)$, and $b \in B$, let $J_b \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$ and $\omega_b \in \operatorname{Symp}(X)$ be the associated almost complex and symplectic structures on X. For $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(\partial B;X)$, define

$$\mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{J_{0}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(B;X)$$

as in (1.8).

For $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$, denote by

$$\mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}'^{\ell}_{\omega}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(B;X)$$

the subspaces of ω -compatible and of ω -tamed almost complex structures. For $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\ell}(\partial B; X)$ and $J_{\circ} \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(\partial B; X)$, define

$$\mathcal{J}^\ell_{\omega;J_{\mathrm{o}}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}^\ell_{\omega}(B;X) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathcal{J}'^\ell_{\omega;J_{\mathrm{o}}}(B;X) \subset \mathcal{J}'^\ell_{\omega}(B;X),$$

respectively, as in (1.8). Let

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(B;X) = \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\infty}(B;X), \qquad \mathcal{J}_{\omega}'(B;X) = \mathcal{J}_{\omega}'^{\infty}(B;X), \qquad \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(B;X) = \mathcal{J}^{\infty}(B;X),$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega;J_{\circ}}(B;X) = \mathcal{J}_{\omega;J_{\circ}}^{\infty}(B;X), \quad \mathcal{J}_{\omega;J_{\circ}}'(B;X) = \mathcal{J}_{\omega;J_{\circ}}^{\infty}(B;X), \quad \mathcal{J}_{J_{\circ}}^{\ell}(B;X) = \mathcal{J}_{J_{\circ}}^{\infty}(B;X).$$

3.2 Configuration spaces

The set \mathcal{M}_{γ_0} of equivalence classes of connected genus g k-marked nodal Riemann surfaces of combinatorial type $\gamma_0 \in \mathcal{A}_{g,k}$ is a subspace of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$. Let

$$\mathcal{M}_{\gamma_0;v} = \mathcal{M}_{\mathfrak{g}(v),S_v(\gamma_0)} \quad \forall v \in V.$$

The image of the immersion

$$\iota_{\gamma_0} \colon \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0} \mathcal{M}_{\gamma_0; v} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g, k} \tag{3.4}$$

identifying the marked points z_f with $f \in e$ for each $e \in \text{Edg}$ into a node is \mathcal{M}_{γ_0} . This immersion descends to an isomorphism from the quotient of its domain by the natural $\text{Aut}(\gamma_0)$ action to \mathcal{M}_{γ_0} .

By the last requirement in Definition 2.2, there exist covers $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{\gamma_0;v}$ with $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0$, universal curves

$$(\pi_{\gamma_0;v}:\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma_0;v}\longrightarrow\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v},(s_{\gamma_0;f})_{f\in S_v(\gamma_0)}),$$

and an immersion

$$\widetilde{\iota}_{\gamma_0} \colon \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g,k}$$
(3.5)

lifting (3.4). For each $v \in \text{Ver}_0$, let

$$\mathrm{pr}_{\gamma_0;v} \colon \prod_{v \in \mathrm{Ver}_0} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \widetilde{\iota}_{\gamma_0;v} \colon \mathrm{pr}_{\gamma_0;v}^* \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$$

be the component projection map and the natural bundle lifting (3.5), respectively; the restriction of the latter to each fiber is the normalization of an irreducible component of a fiber of π .

For $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0$, let

$$S_v^0(\gamma) = S_v(\gamma) \cap \left(S_v(\gamma_0) \cup \operatorname{Im} \varpi\right) \subset [k] \sqcup \operatorname{Fl}, \quad S_v^c(\gamma) = S_v(\gamma) - S_v^0(\gamma) \subset \operatorname{Fl}.$$

If $S_v^c(\gamma) \neq \emptyset$, we define

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} = \left\{ (z_f)_{f \in S_v^c(\gamma)} \in (\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma_0;v})^{S_v^c(\gamma)} \colon z_f \notin \operatorname{Im} s_{f'} \,\forall f \in S_v^c(\gamma), \ f' \in S_v^0(\gamma), \\ \pi_{\gamma_0;v}(z_f) = \pi_{\gamma_0;v}(z_{f'}), \ z_f \neq z_{f'} \,\forall f, f' \in S_v^c(\gamma), \ f \neq f' \right\}$$

and take

$$\pi_{\gamma;v} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \times_{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v}} \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v}$$

to be the projection to the first component. For $f \in S_v^c(\gamma)$, define

$$s_{\gamma;f} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}, \quad s_{\gamma;f} \big((z_{f'})_{f' \in S_v^c(\gamma)} \big) = \big((z_{f'})_{f' \in S_v^c(\gamma)}, z_f \big).$$

For $f \in S_v(\gamma) \cap S_v(\gamma_0)$ and $f = \varpi(i)$ with $i \in \varpi^{-1}(v)$, we take

$$s_{\gamma;f} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}$$

to be the pullback of $s_{\gamma_0;f}$ and $s_{\gamma_0;i}$, respectively, by the natural projection $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v}$.

If $S_v(\gamma) = S_v^0(\gamma)$, let

$$\pi_{\gamma;v} = \pi_{\gamma_0;v} : \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma_0;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0;v},$$
$$s_{\gamma;f} = s_{\gamma_0;f} \ \forall \ f \in S_v(\gamma) \cap S_v(\gamma_0), \ s_{\gamma;\varpi(i)} = s_{\gamma_0;i} \ \forall \ i \in \varpi^{-1}(v).$$

In both cases,

$$\left(\pi_{\gamma;v}: \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v}, (s_{\gamma;f})_{f \in S_v(\gamma)}\right)$$
(3.6)

is the universal curve.

For $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$, define (3.6) by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} = \left\{ (z_f)_{f \in S_v(\gamma)} \colon z_f \neq z_{f'} \ \forall \ f, \ f' \in S_v(\gamma) \cap \operatorname{Fl}, \ f \neq f' \right\}, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \times \mathbb{P}^1,$$
$$s_{\gamma;f} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}, \quad s_{\gamma;f} \left((z_{f'})_{f' \in S_v(\gamma)} \right) = \left((z_{f'})_{f' \in S_v(\gamma)}, z_f \right).$$

There is a natural action of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ on $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}$ that sends a fiber of $\pi_{\gamma;v}$ to a fiber holomorphically and commutes with the sections.

In both cases, denote by

$$\operatorname{pr}_{\gamma;v} \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma} \equiv \prod_{v' \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v'} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\pi}_{\gamma;v} \colon \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \equiv \operatorname{pr}_{\gamma;v}^* \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma} \quad (3.7)$$

the component projection map and the induced bundle projection, respectively. For $v \in Ver_0$, the composition

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma} \longrightarrow \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma_0; v} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{g, k}$$

of the natural projection with the immersion $\tilde{\iota}_{\gamma_0}$ lifts to a bundle map

$$\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}:\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}\longrightarrow\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$$

which restricts to each fiber of $\tilde{\pi}_{\gamma;v}$ as the normalization of an irreducible component of a fiber of π . It sends the marked points z_f with $f \in S_v(\gamma) \cap S_v(\gamma_0)$ and $z_{\varpi(i)}$ with $i \in \varpi^{-1}(v)$ of the former to the marked and nodal points z_f and z_i of the latter. The marked points $z_f \in S_0^c(\gamma)$ of the former are disregarded by this map.

Fix $\ell, p \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $\ell \ge 2+|\mathfrak{m}|$ and p>2. We denote by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(X)$, $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X)$, and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B; X)$ the $C^{2\ell}$ completions of the corresponding spaces of smooth pairs (J, ν) as in Section 2.4 and use the analogous notation for the other \mathcal{H} spaces appearing in Theorems 2.5 and 2.6. By the assumption p>2 and the Sobolev Embedding Theorem [30, Corollary 4.3], every $W^{\ell,p}$ -map from a Riemann surface Σ to X is $C^{\ell-1}$.

For each $v \in \text{Ver}$, denote by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ the space of tuples

$$\mathbf{u}_{v} \equiv \left(\Sigma_{v}, \mathbf{j}_{v}, (z_{f})_{f \in S_{v}(\gamma)}, u_{v}\right)$$
(3.8)

so that $(\Sigma_v, j_v, (z_f)_{f \in S_v(\gamma)})$ is a fiber of $\widetilde{\pi}_{\gamma;v}$ and $u_v : \Sigma_v \longrightarrow X$ is a $W^{\ell,p}$ map. Analogously to Section 1.2, let

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^* \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$$

be the entire spaces $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ if $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0$ and the subspaces of basic and reduced, respectively, maps in the sense of Section 2.3 if $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$. For $f \in S_v(\gamma)$, let

$$\operatorname{ev}_f \colon \mathfrak{B}_v \longrightarrow X, \qquad \operatorname{ev}_f(\mathbf{u}_v) = u(z_f),$$

be the evaluation map at the marked point z_f corresponding to f.

Denote by

$$\mathcal{T}_{\gamma;v} \equiv \ker \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\pi}_{\gamma;v} \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}$$

the vertical tangent bundle of the projection $\widetilde{\pi}_{\gamma;v}$ in (3.7) and by $\mathfrak{j}_{\gamma;v}$ its complex structure. For each $i \in S_v(\gamma) \cap [k]$, denote by $L_{v;i} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ the tautological tangent line bundle for the *i*-th marked point, i.e. the pullback of $\mathcal{T}_{\gamma;v}$ by the map

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v}, \qquad \left(\Sigma_v, \mathfrak{j}_v, (z_f)_{f \in S_v(\gamma)}, u_v\right) \longrightarrow z_i.$$

Define

$$F_{\mathfrak{m};i} = \bigoplus_{m=1}^{m_{i}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathbb{R}}^{m_{i}}(L_{i}), \operatorname{ev}_{i}^{*}TX \right) \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}, \quad \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m};i} = \bigoplus_{m=1}^{m_{i}} \mathfrak{D}^{m_{i}} \in \Gamma \left(\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}; F_{\mathfrak{m};i} \right) \quad \forall i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k],$$

$$F_{\mathfrak{m};v} = \bigoplus_{i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k]} F_{\mathfrak{m};i}, \quad \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m};v} = \bigoplus_{i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k]} \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m};i}, \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v;\mathfrak{m}} = \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{-1}(0),$$

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{*} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v;\mathfrak{m}} \cap \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{*}, \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger *} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v;\mathfrak{m}} \cap \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{\dagger *}.$$

3.3 Spaces of deformations and obstructions

Let $v \in \text{Ver.}$ For each $\mathbf{u}_v \in \mathfrak{B}_v$ as in (3.8), define

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = L^{p}_{\ell}(\Sigma_{v}; u_{v}), \quad \Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = \left\{\xi \in \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_{v}) : \xi(z_{f}) = 0 \ \forall \ f \in S_{v}(\gamma)\right\},$$

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = \left\{\xi \in \Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) : \nabla^{m}\xi|_{z_{i}} = 0 \ \forall \ m \in [m_{i}], \ i \in [k] \cap S_{v}(\gamma)\right\}.$$
(3.9)

If in addition $J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$, let

$$\Gamma_{J}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = L_{\ell-1}^{p} \left(\Sigma_{v}; (T^{*}\Sigma_{v}, -\mathfrak{j}_{v})^{*} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} u_{v}^{*}(TX, J) \right),
\Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = \left\{ \eta \in \Gamma_{J}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) : \nabla^{m-1} \eta |_{z_{i}} = 0 \ \forall \ m \in [m_{i}], \ i \in [k] \cap S_{v}(\gamma) \right\}.$$
(3.10)

Suppose $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$. For $J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$, let

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{v}^{\dagger*}(J) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{\dagger*}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{*}(J) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{*}, \qquad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger*}(J) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger*}$$
(3.11)

be the subspaces of *J*-holomorphic maps. For $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_v^{\dagger *}(J)$ as in (3.8), let

$$D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}:\Gamma(\mathbf{u}_{v})\longrightarrow\Gamma_{J}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}), \quad D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{0}:\Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v})\longrightarrow\Gamma_{J}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}), \quad D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{n}}:\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_{v})\longrightarrow\Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \quad (3.12)$$

be the linearization of the $\bar{\partial}$ -operator at \mathbf{u}_v and its restrictions; see Section 4.2.

Lemma 3.1. Suppose $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}$, $J \in \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$, and $\mathbf{u}_{v} \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{v}^{\dagger*}(J)$ is as in (3.8). If $W \subset X$ is an open subset intersecting $u_{v}(\Sigma_{v})$, then

$$\Gamma_{J}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) = \operatorname{Im} D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{0} + \left\{ A \circ \mathrm{d} u_{v} \circ \mathbf{j}_{v} \colon A \in T_{J} \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X), \operatorname{supp}(A) \subset W \right\},$$

$$\Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \subset \operatorname{Im} D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}} + \left\{ A \circ \mathrm{d} u_{v} \circ \mathbf{j}_{v} \colon A \in T_{J} \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X), \operatorname{supp}(A) \subset W \right\}.$$
(3.13)

For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(X)$, the same statements hold with \mathcal{J} replaced by \mathcal{J}_{ω} and \mathcal{J}'_{ω} .

Proof. The first claim is the $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ case of the second claim. We can assume that $u_v(z_f) \notin W$ for all $f \in S_v(\gamma)$; this implies that the right-hand side of (3.13) is contained in the left-hand side (this is also the case if $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger*}(J)$). We can also assume that $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_v^*(J)$ and thus that $z_f \neq z_{f'}$ for all $f, f' \in S_v(\gamma)$ distinct. Denote by $S \subset \Sigma_v$ the subset of the marked points and by $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}^*$ the formal adjoint of $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}$. Let

$$\Gamma^{1,0}_{J;\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_v) \subset L^p_1(\Sigma_v - S; (T^*\Sigma_v, \mathfrak{j}_v)^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} u^*_v(T^*X, J))$$
(3.14)

be the subspace of (1, 0)-forms on $(\Sigma_v, \mathfrak{j}_v)$ with values in $u_v^*(T^*X, J)$ that have poles of order at most 1 at z_f for $f \in S_v(\gamma) \cap Fl$ and at most $\max(1, m_i)$ at z_i for $i \in S_v(\gamma) \cap [k]$; see Section 4.5. Let

ker
$$D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}*} = \left\{ \mu \in \Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{1,0}(\mathbf{u}_v) \colon D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}^* \mu = 0 \right\}.$$

By Proposition 4.9, the homomorphism

$$L_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}}:\operatorname{cok} D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}}\longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}\left(\operatorname{ker} D_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}*},\mathbb{R}\right), \qquad \left\{L_{J;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}}\left([\eta]\right)\right\}(\mu)=\Re\left(\int_{\Sigma_{v}}\mu\wedge\eta\right),$$

is a well-defined isomorphism. Thus, it is sufficient to show that for every $\mu \in \ker D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}*}$ nonzero, there exists

$$A \in T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$$
 s.t. $\operatorname{supp}(A) \subset W, \quad \Re\left(\int_{\Sigma_v} \mu \wedge (A \circ \mathrm{d} u_v \circ \mathfrak{j}_v)\right) \neq 0.$ (3.15)

If $\omega \in \text{Symp}(X)$ and $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(X)$, then $T_J \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\prime \ell}(X) = T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$. If $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\ell}(X)$, then A as above lies in $T_J \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\ell}(X)$ if A satisfies the additional condition in (3.3).

Let $\mu \in \ker D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}*}$ with $\mu \neq 0$ and ω_{Σ} be an orientation form on Σ . By shrinking W if necessary, we can assume that W is contained in a coordinate chart on X. Since u_v is a somewhere injective J-holomorphic map, there exists a non-empty open subset $U \subset u_v^{-1}(W) - S$ such that

$$d_z u_v \neq 0, \quad u_v^{-1} (u_v(z)) = \{z\} \quad \forall z \in U;$$
 (3.16)

see [33, Corollary 3.14]. Since $\mu \neq 0$, there exists $z \in U$ such that $\mu_z \neq 0$; see Lemma 4.8. Let $w \in T_z \Sigma$ be a nonzero vector. Since

$$\mu_z(w) \neq 0 \in T^*_{u_v(z)}X$$
 and $d_z u_v(\mathfrak{j}_v w) \neq 0 \in T_{u_v(z)}X$,

there exists $A_{u_v(z)} \in \text{End}(T_{u_v(z)}X)$ such that

$$\{\mu_z(w)\}(A_{u_v(z)}(\mathbf{d}_z u_v(\mathbf{j}_v w))) = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad J_{u_v(z)}A_{u_v(z)} = -A_{u_v(z)}J_{u_v(z)}.$$
(3.17)

Let $A \in \Gamma(W; \operatorname{End}(TX))$ be an extension of $A_{u_v(z)}$ such that $J_x A_x = -A_x J_x$ for every $x \in W$.

Let $\kappa \colon U \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ be the function defined by

$$\kappa(z')\omega_{\Sigma}\big|_{z'} = \mu_{z'} \wedge \big(A_{u_v(z')} \circ \mathbf{d}_{z'} u_v \circ \mathfrak{j}_v\big) \qquad \forall \ z' \in U.$$

By the first condition in (3.17), $\kappa(z) \in \mathbb{R}^+$. By the continuity of κ an (3.16), there thus exists a neighborhood of $W' \subset W$ of $u_v(z)$ such that

$$u_v^{-1}(W') \subset U, \qquad \Re\big(\kappa(z')\big) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \quad \forall \, z' \in u_v^{-1}(W'). \tag{3.18}$$

Let $\beta: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ be a smooth function such that $\beta(u_v(z)) = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\beta) \subset u_v^{-1}(W')$. By (3.18),

$$\Re\Big(\int_{\Sigma_v} \mu \wedge \big(\beta A \circ \mathrm{d} u_v \circ \mathfrak{j}_v\big)\Big) = \Re\Big(\int_{u_v^{-1}(W')} \mu \wedge \big(\beta A \circ \mathrm{d} u_v \circ \mathfrak{j}_v\big)\Big) = \int_{u_v^{-1}(W')} \big(\beta \Re(\kappa)\big)\omega_{\Sigma} > 0.$$

Along with the condition that $J_x A_x = -A_x J_x$ for every $x \in X$, this implies that $\beta A \in T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$ satisfies both requirements in (3.15) with A replaced by βA .

Suppose $\omega \in \text{Symp}(X)$ and $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}^{\ell}(X)$. By shrinking W if necessary, we can assume that W is contained in a Darboux coordinate chart on (X, ω) ; see Theorem 3.15 in [18]. By Lemma 3.2.2 in [18], we can then choose $A_{u_v(z)} \in \text{End}(T_{u_v(z)}X)$ so that it satisfies

$$\omega_{u_v(z)}(A_{u_v(z)},\cdot) = -\omega_{u_v(z)}(\cdot,A_{u_v(z)},\cdot)$$

in addition (3.17) and extend it to $A \in \Gamma(W; End(TX))$ so that

$$J_x A_x = -A_x J_x, \quad \omega_x (A_x \cdot, \cdot) = -\omega_x (\cdot, A_x \cdot) \quad \forall \, x \in W.$$

The last condition implies that the element $\beta A \in T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X)$ constructed above satisfies the additional condition in (3.3) and thus lies in $T_J \mathcal{J}^{\ell}_{\omega}(X)$.

Suppose $v \in \text{Ver}_0$. For $(J, \nu) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X)$, define

$$\nu_{\gamma;v} = \big\{ \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times \mathrm{id}_X \big\}^* \nu \in \Gamma\big(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{\gamma;v} \times X; \pi_1^*(\mathcal{T}_{\gamma;v}, -\mathfrak{j}_{\gamma;v})^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \pi_2^*(TX, J) \big).$$

Denote by

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{v}^{\dagger *}(J;\nu) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{\dagger *} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger *}(J;\nu) \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}^{\dagger *}$$

the subspaces of tuples as in (3.8) so that

$$\left. \bar{\partial}_{J,j} u_v \right|_z = \nu_{\gamma;v} \big(z, u_v(z) \big) \qquad \forall \, z \in \Sigma_v \,. \tag{3.19}$$

For $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_v^{\dagger *}(J; \nu)$, let

$$D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v} \colon \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_v) \longrightarrow \Gamma_J^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v), \quad D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}^0 \colon \Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}_v) \longrightarrow \Gamma_J^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v), \quad D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}} \colon \Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_v) \longrightarrow \Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v)$$

be the linearization of the $\{\bar{\partial} - \nu_{\gamma;v}\}$ -operator at \mathbf{u}_v and its restrictions; see Section 4.2.

Lemma 3.2. Suppose $v \in \text{Ver}_0$, $(J,\nu) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X)$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^{\dagger *}_{\mathfrak{m};v}(J,\nu)$ is as in (3.8). If $W \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ is an open subset intersecting $\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(\Sigma_v)$, then

$$\Gamma_J^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v) = \operatorname{Im} D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}^0 + \left\{ \{ \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times u_v \}^* \nu' \colon \nu' \in \Gamma_{\mathfrak{p}}^{0,1}(X;J), \operatorname{supp}(\nu') \subset W \times X \right\},\$$

$$\Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v) = \operatorname{Im} D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}} + \left\{ \{ \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times u_v \}^* \nu' \colon \nu' \in \Gamma_{\mathfrak{p}}^{0,1}(X;J), \operatorname{supp}(\nu') \subset W \times X \right\}.$$

Proof. The first claim is the $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ case of the second claim. We can assume that $\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z_f) \notin W$ for all $f \in S_v(\gamma)$. Denote by $D^*_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}$ the formal adjoint of $D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}$. With $\Gamma^{1,0}_{J;\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_v)$ as in (3.14), let

$$\ker D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}*} = \left\{ \mu \in \Gamma_{J;\mathfrak{m}}^{1,0}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \colon D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{*}\mu = 0 \right\}.$$

By the same reasoning as in the proof of Lemma 3.1, it is sufficient to show that for every $\mu \in \ker D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_{v}}^{\mathfrak{m}*}$ nonzero, there exists

$$\nu' \in \Gamma^{0,1}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X;J) \qquad \text{s.t.} \quad \operatorname{supp}(\nu') \subset W \times X, \quad \Re \Big(\int_{\Sigma_{\nu}} \mu \wedge \big(\{ \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;\nu} \times u_{\nu} \}^* \nu' \big) \Big) \neq 0. \tag{3.20}$$

Let $\mu \in \ker D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}^{\mathfrak{m}*}$ with $\mu \neq 0$ and ω_{Σ} be an orientation form on Σ . By shrinking W if necessary, we can assume that W is contained in a coordinate chart on $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$. Since $\mu \neq 0$, there exists $z \in \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}^{-1}(W)$ such that $\mu_z \neq 0$; see Lemma 4.8. Let $w \in T_z \Sigma$ be a nonzero vector. Since

$$\mu_z(w) \neq 0 \in T^*_{u_v(z)}X$$
 and $d_z \hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(w) \neq 0 \in \mathcal{T}_{\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z)}\mathfrak{p}$

there exists $\nu'_z \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{T}_{\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z)}\mathfrak{p}; T_{u_v(z)}X)$ such that

$$\left\{\mu_z(w)\right\}\left(\nu'_z(\mathrm{d}_z\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(w))\right) = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad J_{u_v(z)}\nu'_z = -\nu'_z\mathfrak{j}_{\mathcal{U}}|_{\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z)}.$$
(3.21)

Let $\nu' \in \Gamma(\mathcal{U}_{q,k}^* \times X; \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_1^*\mathcal{T}\mathfrak{p}, \pi_2^*TX))$ be an extension of ν'_z such that

$$J_x \nu'_{z',x} = -\nu'_{z',x} j_{\mathcal{U}}|_{z'} \qquad \forall \ (z',x) \in \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}^*_{g,k} \times X.$$
(3.22)

By the continuity of the function

$$\kappa \colon U \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \qquad \kappa(z')\omega_{\Sigma}\big|_{z'} = \mu_{z'} \wedge \big(\nu'_{z',u_v(z')}(\mathbf{d}_{z'}\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}|_{\Sigma_v})\big),$$

the first condition in (3.21), and the injectivity of $\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}$, there exists a neighborhood of $W' \subset W$ of $\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z)$ such that

$$\Re(\kappa(z')) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \quad \forall \, z' \in \widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}^{-1}(W').$$
(3.23)

Let $\beta: \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ be a smooth function such that $\beta(\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(z)) = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\beta) \subset W'$. By (3.23),

$$\begin{aligned} \Re\Big(\int_{\Sigma_{v}}\mu\wedge\big(\{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}\times u_{v}\}^{*}(\beta\nu')\big)\Big) &= \Re\Big(\int_{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}^{-1}(W')}\mu\wedge\big(\{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}\times u_{v}\}^{*}(\beta\nu')\big)\Big) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}^{-1}(W')}\big(\beta\Re(\kappa)\big)\omega_{\Sigma} > 0. \end{aligned}$$

Along with (3.22), this implies that $\beta\nu' \in \Gamma^{0,1}_{\mathfrak{p}}(X;J)$ satisfies both requirements in (3.20) with ν' replaced by $\beta\nu'$.

3.4 Universal moduli spaces

For $e \in Edg$, let

$$X_{\gamma;e} \equiv \prod_{f \in e} X, \qquad \Delta_{\gamma;e} = \{(x_f)_{f \in e} \colon x_f = x_{f'} \,\,\forall \, f, \, f' \in e\}.$$

Define

$$\Delta_{\gamma} \equiv \prod_{e \in \mathrm{Edg}} \Delta_{\gamma;e} \subset X_{\gamma} \equiv \prod_{e \in \mathrm{Edg}} X_{\gamma;e}.$$
(3.24)

The evaluation maps ev_f induce maps

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\gamma} \equiv \prod_{e \in \operatorname{Edg}} \prod_{f \in e} \operatorname{ev}_{f} \colon \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{\dagger *} \longrightarrow X_{\gamma}, \quad \operatorname{ev} \equiv \prod_{i \in [k]} \operatorname{ev}_{i} \colon \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}^{\dagger *} \longrightarrow X^{k}.$$
(3.25)

Let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\star} = \operatorname{ev}_{\gamma}^{-1}(\Delta_{\gamma}), \ \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\star}$ be the subspace of tuples $(\mathbf{u}_{v})_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}}$, with \mathbf{u}_{v} as in (3.8), so that $\operatorname{Im} u_{v_{1}} \neq \operatorname{Im} u_{v_{2}}$ for all $v_{1}, v_{2} \in \operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}$ distinct, and

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^* = \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} \cap \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_v.$$

A tuple in $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}$ (resp. in $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}$) corresponds to a reduced (resp. basic) k-marked GU map as in (2.16). With

$$\pi_v \colon \prod_{v' \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v'}^{\dagger *} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$$

denoting the projection map, let

$$F_{\mathfrak{m}} = \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \pi_{v}^{*} F_{\mathfrak{m};v}, \quad \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m}} = \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \pi_{v}^{*} \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m};v}, \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} = \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{-1}(0) \cap \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}, \tag{3.26}$$
$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*} = \left\{ (\mathbf{u}, y) \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \times Y : \operatorname{ev}(\mathbf{u}) = h(y) \right\}.$$

By the reasoning at the top of [18, p47], the spaces $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ are separable smooth Banach manifolds. By the next lemma, the subspaces

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} \subset \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}, \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \times Y$$

are smooth Banach submanifolds of codimensions

$$\operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} = 2n (|\operatorname{Fl}| - |\operatorname{Edg}|), \qquad (3.27)$$
$$\operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}} (\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m}}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}) = n \sum_{i \in [k]} m_{i}(m_{i} + 3), \quad \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}} (\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m};h}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m}} \times Y) = 2nk,$$

respectively.

Lemma 3.3. The subspace $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger*}$ is a smooth Banach submanifold of $\prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ of codimension (3.27). The restriction of the bundle section $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*$ is transverse to the zero set. The restriction of the map ev to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is transverse to h.

Proof. For each $v \in \text{Ver}$, $f \in S_v(\gamma)$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ as in (3.8), define

$$L_f: \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_v) \longrightarrow T_{\mathsf{ev}_f(\mathbf{u}_v)}X, \qquad L_f(\xi_v) = \xi_v(z_f).$$

Since $z_f \neq z_{f'}$ for all $f, f' \in S_v(\gamma) \cap Fl$ distinct, the homomorphism

$$L_{v}: \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{f \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap \mathrm{Fl}} T_{\mathsf{ev}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{v})} X, \qquad L_{v}(\xi_{v}) = \left(L_{f}(\xi_{v})\right)_{f \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap \mathrm{Fl}}, \tag{3.28}$$

is surjective for every $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$.

Since $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ is an open subset, $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *}$ is a separable smooth Banach manifold of codimension 0. Furthermore, the maps in (3.25) and the bundle section in (3.26) are smooth. The restriction of the differential of ev_{γ} at $\mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathbf{u}_v)_{v \in \text{Ver}}$ to

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{u}) \equiv \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_v) \subset \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} T_{\mathbf{u}_v} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *} = T_{\mathbf{u}} \left(\prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *} \right)$$

is given by

$$\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{u}}\mathsf{ev}_{\gamma}\big((\xi_{v})_{v\in\mathrm{Ver}}\big)=\big(L_{v}(\xi_{v})\big)_{v\in\mathrm{Ver}}.$$

By the surjectivity of (3.28), this restriction is surjective. Thus, the map ev_{γ} is transverse to Δ_{γ} . In light of the Implicit Function Theorem for Banach manifolds, it follows that

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\star} \subset \prod_{\in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v^{\dagger *}$$

is a smooth Banach submanifold of codimension (3.27). Since $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\star}$ is an open subset, this implies the first claim of the lemma.

For each $v \in \text{Ver}$, $i \in S_v(\gamma) \cap [k]$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};v}$ as in (3.8), define

$$L_{\mathfrak{m};i}\colon \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_v) \longrightarrow F_{\mathfrak{m};i}, \qquad L_{\mathfrak{m};i}(\xi_v) = \left(\nabla^m \xi_v|_{z_i}\right)_{m \in [m_i]}.$$

Since $\mathfrak{D}_{u_v}^m|_{z_i} = 0$ for all $m \in [m_i]$, this homomorphism is independent of the choice of ∇ . If $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m},v}^*$, then $z_f \neq z_{f'}$ for all $f, f' \in S_v(\gamma)$ distinct. Thus, the homomorphism

$$L_{v} \bigoplus \bigoplus_{i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k]} L_{i} \oplus L_{\mathfrak{m};v} \colon \Gamma(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{f \in S_{v}(\gamma)} T_{\mathsf{ev}_{f}(\mathbf{u}_{v})} X \oplus F_{\mathfrak{m};v}, \tag{3.29}$$
$$L_{\mathfrak{m};v}(\xi_{v}) = \left(L_{v}(\xi_{v}), (L_{i}(\xi_{v}))_{i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k]}, (L_{\mathfrak{m};i}(\xi_{v}))_{i \in S_{v}(\gamma) \cap [k]}\right),$$

is surjective for every $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_{\mathfrak{m};v}$.

The restriction of the linearization of $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ at an element $\mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathbf{u}_v)_{v \in \text{Ver}}$ of $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{m}}^*$ to

$$\Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}) \equiv \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}_v) \equiv \left\{ (\xi_v)_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \colon L_f(\xi_v) = 0 \ \forall f \in S_v(\gamma) \cap \operatorname{Fl}, v \in \operatorname{Ver} \right\} \subset T_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*$$

is given by

$$\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{u}}\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{m}}((\xi_v)_{v\in\mathrm{Ver}}) = (L_{\mathfrak{m};v}(\xi_v))_{v\in\mathrm{Ver}}.$$

By the surjectivity of (3.29), this restriction is surjective. This implies the second claim of the lemma.

The restriction of the differential of ev at an element $\mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathbf{u}_v)_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}}$ of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_{\mathfrak{m}}$ to

$$\left\{ (\xi_v)_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \in \Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}) \colon L_{\mathfrak{m};i}(\xi_v) = 0 \ \forall \, i \in S_v(\gamma) \cap [k], \ v \in \operatorname{Ver} \right\} \subset T_{\mathbf{u}} \mathfrak{B}^*_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

is given by

$$\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{u}}\mathsf{ev}\big((\xi_v)_{v\in\mathrm{Ver}}\big)=\big(L_i(\xi_v)\big)_{i\in S_v(\gamma)\cap[k],v\in\mathrm{Ver}}\,.$$

By the surjectivity of (3.29), this restriction is surjective. This establishes the last claim of the lemma. $\hfill \Box$

For $B' = B_{\circ}, B$ and $v \in \text{Ver}$, let

$$\mathfrak{F}_{B';v} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m};v} \subset \mathfrak{F}_{B';v}$$

be the bundle with the fibers $\mathfrak{F}_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v)} = \Gamma_{J_b}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v)$ and its subbundle with the fibers $\Gamma_{J_b;\mathfrak{m}}^{0,1}(\mathbf{u}_v)$. We define a section of $\mathfrak{F}_{B';v}$ by

$$\bar{\partial}_{B';v}(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v)\big|_z = \bar{\partial}_{J,j_v} u_v\big|_z - \begin{cases} \nu_{\gamma;v}(z,u_v(z)), & \text{if } v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0; \\ 0, & \text{if } v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c; \end{cases} \quad \forall z \in \Sigma_v.$$

The restriction of $\bar{\partial}_{B';v}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}_{\mathfrak{m};v}$ takes values in $\mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m};v}$. Let

$$\widetilde{\pi}_{v} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v' \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v'} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v} \quad \text{and} \\ \widetilde{\pi}_{Y}^{c} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v} \times Y \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}$$

denote the projection maps.

Define

$$\mathfrak{F}_{B'} = \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\pi}_{v}^{*} \mathfrak{F}_{B';v} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}, \quad \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}} = \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\pi}_{v}^{*} \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m};v} \subset \mathfrak{F}_{B'}, \quad (3.30)$$

$$\mathfrak{F}_{B';Y} = \widetilde{\pi}_{Y}^{c*} \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v' \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v'} \times Y.$$

The restriction of the bundle section

$$\bar{\partial}_{B'} \equiv (\tilde{\pi}_v^* \bar{\partial}_{B';v})_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B'}$$
(3.31)

of the first bundle in (3.30) to $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*}$ takes values in $\mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}$. Thus, the restriction of the section

$$\bar{\partial}_{B';Y} \equiv \widetilde{\pi}_Y^{c*} \bar{\partial}_{B'} \colon \mathcal{H}^\ell_\mathfrak{p}(B';X) \times B' \times \prod_{v' \in \operatorname{Ver}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v'} \times Y \longrightarrow \widetilde{\pi}_Y^{c*} \mathfrak{F}_{B'}$$

to $\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^*_{\mathfrak{m};h}$ takes values in $\mathfrak{F}_{B';Y}$. Let

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^{\dagger *}(B') &= \bar{\partial}_{B'}^{-1}(0) \cap \left(\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}\right), \quad \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*}(B') = \bar{\partial}_{B'}^{-1}(0) \cap \left(\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*}\right), \\ \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*}(B') &= \bar{\partial}_{B';Y}^{-1}(0) \cap \left(\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*}\right). \end{split}$$

These are the universal moduli spaces associated with the moduli spaces appearing with Theorems 2.5 and 2.6.

By the reasoning at the bottom of [18, p49], the space $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B'; X)$ is a separable smooth Banach manifold. By the reasoning at the bottom of [18, p50], (3.31) is a C^{ℓ} section of the C^{ℓ} Banach bundle (3.30). Along with Lemma 3.3, this implies that the restrictions

$$\begin{split} \bar{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B'}, \quad \bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}, \\ \bar{\partial}_{B';Y;\mathfrak{m}} \colon \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B';X) \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B';Y} \end{split}$$

of $\bar{\partial}_{B'}$ in the first two cases and of $\bar{\partial}_{B';Y}$ in the last case are also C^{ℓ} sections of C^{ℓ} Banach bundles. Lemma 3.4. For every $(J,\nu) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B';X)$, the restrictions

$$\begin{split} \bar{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} \colon \{ (J,\nu) \} \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B'}, \quad \bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}} \colon \{ (J,\nu) \} \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}, \\ and & \bar{\partial}_{B';Y;\mathfrak{m}} \colon \{ (J,\nu) \} \times B' \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B';Y} \end{split}$$

are Fredholm sections of indices

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c}\bar{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} &= \operatorname{dim}_{\mathbb{R}}B_{\circ} + 2\operatorname{dim}(\gamma) + 6|\operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}|, \quad \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}^{\dagger} = \operatorname{dim}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c}B_{\circ} + 2\left(\operatorname{dim}(\gamma) - n|\mathfrak{m}|\right) + 6|\operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}|, \\ and \quad \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\bar{\partial}_{B';Y;\mathfrak{m}} &= \operatorname{dim}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c}B_{\circ} + 2\left(\operatorname{dim}(\gamma) - n|\mathfrak{m}|\right) - \left(2nk - \operatorname{dim}_{\mathbb{R}}Y\right) + 6|\operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}|, \end{split}$$

respectively.

Proof. For $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$, $b \in B'$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ such that

$$\partial_{B';v}(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v) = 0 \in \mathfrak{F}_{B';v}, \qquad (3.32)$$

denote by $D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_v}$ the operator $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}$ in (3.12). For all $v \in \text{Ver}$, $b \in B'$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$, the operator $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}$ is then the restriction of the vertical differential $D\overline{\partial}_{B';v}$ of the section $\overline{\partial}_{B';v}$ of $\mathfrak{F}_{B';v}$ at $(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v)$ to the subspace

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{u}_v) \subset T_{\mathbf{u}_v} \mathfrak{B}_v \subset T_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v)} \left(\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B';X) \times B' \times \mathfrak{B}_v \right)$$

consisting of the infinitesimal deformations of the map component u_v of \mathbf{u}_v as in (3.8).

Since $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}$ is an elliptic operator and Σ_v is a compact manifold, $D_{J;\mathbf{u}_v}$ is a Fredholm operator. By Riemann-Roch,

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}} D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_{v}} = 2(\langle c_{1}(TX), \mathfrak{d}(v) \rangle + n(1 - \mathfrak{g}(v))) \quad \forall v \in \operatorname{Ver}.$$

Thus, the restriction

$$\bar{\partial}_{B';v} \colon \{(J,\nu)\} \times \{b\} \times \mathfrak{B}_v \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B';v}$$

is a Fredholm section of index

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}^{cc}\bar{\partial}_{B';v} = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}D_{J,\nu;\mathbf{u}_{v}} + \dim_{\mathbb{R}}\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\gamma;v}$$
$$= 2\big(\langle c_{1}(TX), \mathfrak{d}(v) \rangle + (n-3)\big(1-\mathfrak{g}(v)\big) + |S_{v}(\gamma)|\big) + \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } v \in \operatorname{Ver}_{0}; \\ 6, & \text{if } v \in \operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}. \end{cases}$$
(3.33)

By (3.31), the first statement of Lemma 3.3, and (3.33), the restriction of $\bar{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger}$ in the statement of the present lemma is a Fredholm section of index

$$\inf_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} B_{\circ} + \sum_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c} \widetilde{\partial}_{B';v} - \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}$$

$$= \dim_{\mathbb{R}} B_{\circ} + 2 \left(\left\langle c_{1}(TX), A \right\rangle + \sum_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} (n-3) \left(1 - \mathfrak{g}(v) \right) + k + |\operatorname{Fl}| \right) + 6 |\operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}| - 2n \left(|\operatorname{Fl}| - |\operatorname{Edg}| \right).$$

Combining this with (2.20) and (2.26), we obtain the first index statement.

The corank of the subbundle $\mathfrak{F}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}$ of $\mathfrak{F}_{B'}$ is $n \sum_{i \in [k]} m_i(m_i+1)$. Along with the previous paragraph and the second statement of Lemma 3.3, this implies that the restriction of $\bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}$ in the statement of the present lemma is a Fredholm section of index

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\overline{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}^{\dagger} = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c}\overline{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} - \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}}\left(\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger*}\right) + n \sum_{i \in [k]} m_{i}(m_{i}+1) = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}^{c}\overline{\partial}_{B'}^{\dagger} - 2n|\mathfrak{m}|.$$

This gives the second index statement.

By the previous paragraph and the third statement of Lemma 3.3, the restriction of $\bar{\partial}_{B';Y;\mathfrak{m}}$ in the statement of the present lemma is a Fredholm section of index

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\bar{\partial}_{B';Y;\mathfrak{m}} = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}^{\dagger} + \dim_{\mathbb{R}}Y - \operatorname{codim}_{\mathbb{R}}\big(\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \times Y\big) = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathbb{R}}\bar{\partial}_{B';\mathfrak{m}}^{\dagger} - \big(2nk - \dim_{\mathbb{R}}Y\big).$$

This completes the proof.

Proposition 3.5. The bundle sections

$$\begin{split} \bar{\partial}_{B_{\circ}}^{\dagger} &: \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X) \times B_{\circ} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B_{\circ}}, \quad \bar{\partial}_{B_{\circ};\mathfrak{m}} : \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X) \times B_{\circ} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B_{\circ};\mathfrak{m}}, \\ and \quad \bar{\partial}_{B_{\circ};Y;\mathfrak{m}} : \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X) \times B_{\circ} \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^{*} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B_{\circ};Y} \end{split}$$

are transverse to the zero set. If $(J_{\circ}, \nu_{\circ}) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X)$ is regular value of one of the projections

$$\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^{\dagger*}(B_{\circ}), \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m}}(B_{\circ}), \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m};h}(B_{\circ}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X),$$
(3.34)

then the corresponding bundle section

$$\begin{split} \bar{\partial}_B^{\dagger} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \times B \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_B, \quad \bar{\partial}_{B;\mathfrak{m}} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \times B \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m}} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B;\mathfrak{m}}, \\ and & \bar{\partial}_{B;Y;\mathfrak{m}} \colon \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \times B \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}_{\mathfrak{m};h} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{B;Y} \end{split}$$

is also transverse to the zero set. For every $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B_{\circ}; X)$ (resp. in $\omega \in \text{Symp}(B; X)$), the first (resp. second) statement holds with $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}$ replaced by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}^{\ell}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}^{\ell\ell}$.

Proof. For $v \in \text{Ver}_0$, $(J, \nu) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X)$, $b \in B_{\circ}$, and $\mathbf{u}_v \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_v$ as in (3.8) satisfying (3.32), define

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v}}\bar{\partial}: T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X) \oplus \Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \longrightarrow \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}_{v}),$$
$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v}}\bar{\partial}(A,\nu';\xi_{v}) = D^{0}_{J_{b},\nu_{b};\mathbf{u}_{v}}\xi_{v} + \frac{1}{2}A_{b} \circ \mathrm{d} u_{v} \circ \mathfrak{j}_{v} - \{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times u_{v}\}^{*}\nu'_{b}$$

For $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$, we define $D_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v}^0 \bar{\partial}$ in the same way dropping $\{\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times u_v\}^* \nu_b'$ above. Note that

$$A_b \circ du_v \circ \mathfrak{j}_v = 0 \qquad \text{if} \quad u_v(\Sigma_v) \cap \operatorname{supp}(A_b) = \emptyset, \{\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v} \times u_v\}^* \nu_b' = 0 \qquad \text{if} \quad v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c \text{ or } (\widehat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(\Sigma_v) \times X) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\nu_b') = \emptyset.$$
(3.35)

The homomorphism $D^0_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v}\bar{\partial}$ is the restriction of the linearization of $\bar{\partial}_{B_\circ;v}$ at $(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v)$ to

$$T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)\oplus\Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v})\subset T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)\oplus T_{\mathbf{u}_{v}}\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}\subset T_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v})}\big(\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)\times B_{\circ}\times\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{v}\big).$$

Let $(J,\nu) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X), b \in B_{\circ}, \text{ and } \mathbf{u} \equiv (\mathbf{u}_{v})_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}$ be such that

$$\bar{\partial}^{\dagger}_{B_{\circ}}(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}) = 0 \in \mathfrak{F}_{B^{\circ}}|_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u})} \equiv \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}) \equiv \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}_{v}).$$

We show that the homomorphism

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}}\bar{\partial}: T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X) \oplus \Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}_{v}),$$

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}}\bar{\partial}(A,\nu'; (\xi_{v})_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}}) = \left(D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v}}\bar{\partial}(A,\nu';\xi_{v})\right)_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}},$$
(3.36)

is surjective. Since $\Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}) \subset T_\mathbf{u} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}$, this implies that the bundle section $\bar{\partial}_{B_0}^{\dagger}$ is transverse to the zero set.

Since $\mathbf{u} \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}^{\dagger *}$, $u_{v_1}(\Sigma_{v_1}) \neq u_{v_2}(\Sigma_{v_2})$ for all $v_1, v_2 \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$ distinct. It follows that $u_{v_1}^{-1}(X - u_{v_2}(\Sigma_{v_2}))$ is a dense open subset of Σ_{v_1} whenever $v_1, v_2 \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$ are distinct; see [33, Corollary 3.9]. Thus, there exist open subsets $W_v \subset X$ with $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c$ such that

$$u_v(\Sigma_v) \cap W_v \neq \emptyset \qquad \forall v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c, \tag{3.37}$$

$$u_{v_1}(\Sigma_{v_1}) \cap W_{v_2} = \emptyset, \quad W_{v_1} \cap W_{v_2} = \emptyset \qquad \forall v_1, v_2 \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c, \ v_1 \neq v_2.$$

$$(3.38)$$

The subsets $\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(\Sigma_v) \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ with $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0$ are also distinct. Thus, there exist open subsets $W_v \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{g,k}$ with $v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0$ such that

$$\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(\Sigma_v) \cap W_v \neq \emptyset \qquad \forall v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0, \tag{3.39}$$

$$\hat{\iota}_{\gamma;v}(\Sigma_{v_1}) \cap W_{v_2} = \emptyset, \quad W_{v_1} \cap W_{v_2} = \emptyset \qquad \forall v_1, v_2 \in \operatorname{Ver}_0, \, v_1 \neq v_2.$$
(3.40)

Define

$$T_{v}\mathcal{H} = \begin{cases} \{(A,0)\in T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)\colon \operatorname{supp}(A_{b})\subset W_{v}\}, & \text{if } v\in\operatorname{Ver}_{0}^{c}, \\ \{(0,\nu')\in T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X)\colon \operatorname{supp}(\nu_{b}')\subset W_{v}\times X\} & \text{if } v\in\operatorname{Ver}_{0}. \end{cases}$$

By the first statements of Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2, (3.37), and (3.39),

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v}}\bar{\partial}(T_{v}\mathcal{H}\oplus\Gamma_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{v})) = \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}_{v}) \subset \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b}}(\mathbf{u}) \qquad \forall \ v \in \mathrm{Ver}$$

By (3.35) and the first statement in (3.38),

$$D^0_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v}\bar{\partial}(T_{v'}\mathcal{H}) = \{0\} \qquad \forall \ v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0^c, \ v' \in \operatorname{Ver}_v\{v\}.$$

By the second statement in (3.35) and the first statement in (3.40),

$$D^0_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_v}\bar{\partial}(T_{v'}\mathcal{H}) = \{0\} \qquad \forall \ v \in \operatorname{Ver}_0, \ v' \in \operatorname{Ver}_0 - \{v\}.$$

By the last statements in (3.38) and (3.40),

$$\bigoplus_{v\in\operatorname{Ver}} (T_v\mathcal{H}\oplus\Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}_v)) \subset T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_\circ;X)\oplus\Gamma_0(\mathbf{u}).$$

By the last four statements, the homomorphism (3.36) is surjective. This establishes the transversality of the bundle section $\bar{\partial}_{B_{\circ}}^{\dagger}$.

Suppose in addition that $\mathbf{u} \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^*$. Let

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}) = \bigoplus_{v \in \operatorname{Ver}} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_v).$$

By the second statements of Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2, (3.37), and (3.39),

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}_{v}}\bar{\partial}\left(T_{v}\mathcal{H}\oplus\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_{v})\right)=\Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b};\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_{v})\subset\Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b};\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u})\equiv\bigoplus_{v'\in\mathrm{Ver}}\Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b};\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}_{v'})\qquad\forall\ v\in\mathrm{Ver}.$$

By the reasoning in the previous paragraph, this implies that the restriction

$$D^{0}_{J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u}}\bar{\partial}: T_{(J,\nu)}\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ};X) \oplus \Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}) \longrightarrow \Gamma^{0,1}_{J_{b};\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}) \equiv \mathfrak{F}_{B_{\circ};\mathfrak{m}}\big|_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u})}$$
(3.41)

the homomorphism (3.36) is surjective. Since $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}) \subset T_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^*$, it follows that the bundle section $\overline{\partial}_{B_{\circ};\mathfrak{m}}$ is transverse to the zero set. If in addition $(\mathbf{u}, y) \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^*$, then

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{u}) \subset T_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m};h}^* \subset T_{\mathbf{u}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^* \oplus T_y Y = T_{(\mathbf{u},y)} \big(\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{m}}^* \times Y \big).$$

The surjectivity of (3.41) then implies that the bundle section $\bar{\partial}_{B_0;Y;\mathfrak{m}}$ is transverse to the zero set.

Suppose $(J_{\circ}, \nu_{\circ}) \in \mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X)$ is a regular value of a projection in (3.34). Denote by \mathfrak{B} the last component of the domain of the corresponding bundle section $\overline{\partial}$. Suppose $\overline{\partial}(J, \nu; b, \mathbf{u}) = 0$. In particular, $(J, \nu)|_{B_{\circ}} = (J_{\circ}, \nu_{\circ})$. If $b \in B_{\circ}$, then the restriction of the linearization of $\overline{\partial}$ at $(J, \nu; b, \mathbf{u})$ to

$$T_{(b,\mathbf{u})}(B \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}) \subset T_{(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u})}(\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X) \times B \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}})$$

is surjective; see Lemma 4.3. If $b \notin B_{\circ}$, then the argument above with B_{\circ} and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}(B_{\circ}; X)$ replaced by B and $\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{J_{\circ},\nu_{\circ}}(B;X)$, respectively, shows that the linearization of $\bar{\partial}$ at $(J,\nu;b,\mathbf{u})$ is surjective. We conclude that the bundle section $\bar{\partial}$ in question is transverse to the zero set.

The proof for $\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$ and $\mathcal{H}'^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p};\omega}$ in place of $\mathcal{H}^{\ell}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the same.

Let $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X) \subset \mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X)$ be the intersection of the sets of regular values for the three projections in (3.34). By Sard-Smale Theorem (Proposition 4.1), $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X)$ is a ubiquitous subset of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\ell}(B_{\circ}; X)$ if $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ is sufficiently large.

4 Analytic preliminaries

4.1 Classical statements

Banach vector space, manifold, separable

Sard-Smale theorem, elliptic bootstrapping, elliptic implies Fredholm over compact domains

Proposition 4.1.

4.2 Fredholm bundle sections

Banach bundle, Fredholm section

Proposition 4.2. if D is onto, then the moduli space is smooth

4.3 Ubiquitous regularity

Lemma 4.3. map to a manifold, transverse to a submanifold; regular value of projections v.s restricted to a fiber

Proposition 4.4. *if universal section is surjective, then so is a generic restriction and each moduli space is smooth*

4.4 Taubes's argument

 \sim

Taubes's argument moving from the ubiquitousness of a subset of the space C^{ℓ} -parameters to the ubiquitousness of its C^{∞} -analogue is applied explicitly in the proofs of Theorems 3.1.6(ii) and 6.2.6(ii) in [18] and implicitly in many other settings of similar nature. Proposition 4.5 below formalizes Taubes's argument in order to capture its substance and make it easier to apply.

If \mathfrak{M} is a topological space, a map $f: \mathfrak{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is upper semi-continuous if the set $f^{-1}((-\infty, a))$ is an open subset of \mathfrak{M} for every $a \in \mathbb{R}$. For example, the map

$$\mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^*_{0,0}(A) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0} \subset \mathbb{R}, \qquad (J,u) \longrightarrow \dim \operatorname{cok} D_{J;u},$$

is upper semi-continuous. If \mathcal{J} is another topological space, a continuous map $\pi: \mathfrak{M} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}$ is proper if $\pi^{-1}(K)$ is a compact subset of \mathfrak{M} for every compact subset K of \mathcal{J} . For example, the map

$$\pi: \mathfrak{M}_r \equiv \left\{ (J, u) \in \mathfrak{U}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}_{0,0}^*(A) \colon \| \mathrm{d}u \|_{C^0} \leqslant r, \ \exists z \in \mathbb{P}^1 \text{ s.t. } \sup_{z' \in \mathbb{P}^1 - \{z\}} \frac{d_X(u(z), u(z'))}{d_{\mathbb{P}^1}(z, z')} \geqslant 1/r \right\} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J},$$
$$\pi(J, u) = J,$$

is proper for every $r \in \mathbb{R}^+$. This follows from elliptic bootstrapping for *J*-holomorphic maps; see [18, Theorem B.4.2].

Let $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T})$ be a topological space as in [19, §12], i.e. a set \mathcal{J} together with a collection \mathcal{T} of subsets of \mathcal{J} satisfying certain properties. We call a sequence $(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+}$ of topological spaces an expansion of $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T})$ if

$$\mathcal{J}^{\ell} \supset \mathcal{J}^{\ell+1} \supset \mathcal{J} \quad \forall \, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \qquad \left\{ U \cap \mathcal{J}^{\ell+1} \colon U \in \mathcal{T}^{\ell} \right\} \subset \mathcal{T}^{\ell+1} \quad \forall \, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+,$$

and \mathcal{T} is the topology on \mathcal{J} generated by the collections $\{U \cap \mathcal{J} : U \in \mathcal{T}^{\ell}\}$ with $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$; see [19, §13]. This in particular implies that the inclusions

$$(\mathcal{J}^{\ell+1}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell+1}) \longrightarrow (\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell}), \quad (\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T}) \longrightarrow (\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell})$$
 (4.1)

are continuous for every $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

We call an expansion as above proper (resp. tight) if all inclusions in (4.1) are proper (resp. \mathcal{T} is dense in $(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell})$ for all $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$). We call it first countable if every topological space $(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell})$ is first countable. The existence of a first countable expansion implies that $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T})$ itself is first countable. For example, the spaces $(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}(X), \mathcal{T}^{\ell}(X))$ of C^{ℓ} almost complex structures on a compact manifold X form a proper tight first countable expansion of the space $(\mathcal{J}(X), \mathcal{T}(X))$ of smooth almost complex structures on X. The spaces $W^p_{\ell}(\mathbb{P}^1; X)$ of W^p_{ℓ} -maps $f : \mathbb{P}^1 \longrightarrow X$ form a proper tight first countable expansion of the space $f : \mathbb{P}^1 \longrightarrow X$.

For topological spaces \mathcal{J} and \mathfrak{B} , $\mathfrak{M} \subset \mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B}$, and an upper semi-continuous function $f : \mathfrak{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$, we define

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}(f) = \left\{ J \in \mathcal{J} \colon f(J, u) = 0 \,\,\forall \, (J, u) \in \mathfrak{M} \right\}.$$

Proposition 4.5. Suppose $(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+}$ is a proper tight first countable expansion of a topological space $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T}), (\mathfrak{B}^{\ell}, \mathfrak{T}^{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+}$ is a proper expansion of a topological space $(\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{T}), \mathfrak{M}^1 \subset \mathcal{J}^1 \times \mathfrak{B}^1$, and $f: \mathfrak{M}^1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ is an upper semi-continuous function such that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell}(f) \equiv \widehat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell} \big(f | \mathfrak{M}^{1} \cap (\mathcal{J}^{\ell} \times \mathfrak{B}^{\ell}) \big) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\ell}$$

is a dense subset for every $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. If the spaces $(\mathcal{J}^1, \mathcal{T}^1)$ and $(\mathfrak{B}^1, \mathfrak{T}^1)$ are Hausdorff and there exists a sequence $(\mathfrak{M}^1_r)_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^+}$ of subspaces of \mathfrak{M}^1 such that

$$\mathfrak{M}_r^1 \subset \mathfrak{M}_{r+1}^1 \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \qquad \mathfrak{M}^1 = \bigcup_{r=1}^\infty \mathfrak{M}_r^1,$$

and the restriction of the projection $\mathcal{J}^1 \times \mathfrak{B}^1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}^1$ to \mathfrak{M}^1_r is proper for every $r \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, then

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}(f) \equiv \widehat{\mathcal{J}}\big(f | \mathfrak{M}^1 \cap (\mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B})\big) \subset \mathcal{J}$$

is a ubiquitous subset.

Proof. For each $r \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, let

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}_r^\ell(f) = \widehat{\mathcal{J}}^\ell \big(f | \mathfrak{M}_r^1 \cap (\mathcal{J}^\ell \times \mathfrak{B}^\ell) \big) \subset \mathcal{J}^\ell \quad \forall \, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \qquad \widehat{\mathcal{J}}_r(f) \equiv \widehat{\mathcal{J}} \big(f | \mathfrak{M}_r^1 \cap (\mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B}) \big) \subset \mathcal{J}.$$

We show below that each $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_r(f)$ is open and dense in $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T})$. This implies that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{J}}(f) \equiv \bigcap_{r=1}^{\infty} \widehat{\mathcal{J}}_r(f)$$

is a countable intersection of open dense subsets of $(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T})$ and is thus ubiquitous.

Since the spaces $(\mathcal{J}^1, \mathcal{T}^1)$ and $(\mathfrak{B}^1, \mathfrak{T}^1)$ are Hausdorff, so are the spaces $(\mathcal{J}^\ell, \mathcal{T}^\ell), (\mathfrak{B}^\ell, \mathfrak{T}^\ell), (\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T}),$ and $(\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{T})$. By Lemma 4.6 below, all the inclusions

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{J}^{\ell+1}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell+1} \right) \times \left(\mathfrak{B}^{\ell+1}, \mathfrak{T}^{\ell+1} \right) &\longrightarrow \left(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell} \right) \times \left(\mathfrak{B}^{\ell}, \mathfrak{T}^{\ell} \right), \\ \left(\mathcal{J}, \mathcal{T} \right) \times \left(\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{T} \right) &\longrightarrow \left(\mathcal{J}^{\ell}, \mathcal{T}^{\ell} \right) \times \left(\mathfrak{B}^{\ell}, \mathfrak{T}^{\ell} \right) \end{aligned}$$

are thus proper. Since the restriction of the projection $\mathcal{J}^1 \times \mathfrak{B}^1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}^1$ to \mathfrak{M}^1_r is proper for every $r \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, it follows that the restrictions of the projections

$$\mathcal{J}^{\ell} \times \mathfrak{B}^{\ell} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}^{\ell} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}$$

to $\mathfrak{M}_r^1 \cap (\mathcal{J}^\ell \times \mathfrak{B}^\ell)$ and $\mathfrak{M}_r^1 \cap (\mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B})$ are proper as well. From Lemma 4.7 below, we then conclude that the subsets $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_r^\ell(f) \subset \mathcal{J}^\ell$ and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_r(f) \subset \mathcal{J}$ are open.

Let $J \in \mathcal{J}$ and $U^{\ell} \in \mathcal{T}^{\ell}$ be a sequence such that $U^{\ell} \supset U^{\ell+1}$ for all $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and $\{U^{\ell} \cap \mathcal{J}\}$ is a basis for \mathcal{T} at J (i.e. every open neighborhood $U \in \mathcal{T}$ of J contains some $U^{\ell} \cap \mathcal{J}$). Since $\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell}(f) \subset \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell}_{r}(f)$ is dense in \mathcal{J}^{ℓ} , there exists $J_{\ell} \in U_{\ell} \cap \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell}_{r}(f)$. Since $\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\ell}_{r}(f)$ is open in \mathcal{J}^{ℓ} and \mathcal{J} is dense in \mathcal{J}^{ℓ} , there also exists

$$J'_{\ell} \in U_{\ell} \cap \widehat{\mathcal{J}}_{r}^{\ell}(f) \cap \mathcal{J} \subset U_{\ell} \cap \widehat{\mathcal{J}}_{r}(f) \,.$$

The sequence $J'_{\ell} \in \widehat{\mathcal{J}}_r(f)$ then converges to J. We conclude that each $\mathcal{J}_r(f) \subset \mathcal{J}$ is dense.

Lemma 4.6. Let $f: \mathcal{J} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}'$ and $g: \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{B}'$ be proper maps. If \mathcal{J}' and \mathfrak{B}' are Hausdorff, then

$$f \times g \colon \mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}' \times \mathfrak{B}'$$

is also a proper map.

Proof. Let $K \subset \mathcal{J}' \times \mathfrak{B}'$ be a compact subset. Since the projections $\mathcal{J}' \times \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}', \mathfrak{B}'$ are continuous, they map K to compact subsets $K_1 \subset \mathcal{J}'$ and $K_2 \subset \mathfrak{B}'$. Since the maps f and g are proper, the subset

$$\{f \times g\}^{-1}(K_1 \times K_2) = f^{-1}(K_1) \times g^{-1}(K_2) \subset \mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B}$$

is compact. Since K is a compact subset of a Hausdorff space, it is closed. Since $f \times g$ is a continuous map, the subspace

$$\{f \times g\}^{-1}(K) \subset \{f \times g\}^{-1}(K_1 \times K_2)$$

is closed and thus compact.

Lemma 4.7. Suppose \mathcal{J} and \mathfrak{B} are topological spaces, $\mathfrak{M} \subset \mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B}$, and $f: \mathfrak{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\geq 0}$ is an upper semi-continuous function. If \mathcal{J} is first countable and Hausdorff and the restriction of the projection $\mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}$ to \mathfrak{M} is proper, then the set $\hat{\mathcal{J}}(f)$ is open in \mathcal{J} .

Proof. We show that the complement $\hat{\mathcal{J}}^c \equiv \mathcal{J} - \hat{\mathcal{J}}(f)$ of $\hat{\mathcal{J}}(f)$ in \mathcal{J} is closed. Suppose $J \in \mathcal{J}, J_i \in \hat{\mathcal{J}}^c$ is a sequence converging to J such that $J_i \neq J$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, and $(J_i, u_i) \in \mathfrak{M}$ is a sequence such that $f(J_i, u_i) \geq 1$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. Since the set

$$K \equiv \{J\} \cup \{J_i \colon i \in \mathbb{Z}^+\} \subset \mathcal{J}$$

is compact and the restriction of the projection $\mathcal{J} \times \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}$ to \mathfrak{M} is proper, the infinite set

$$\{(J_i, u_i): i \in \mathbb{Z}^+\} \subset \mathfrak{M} \cap (K \times \mathfrak{B})$$

has a limit point (J', u). Since \mathcal{J} is Hausdorff, J' = J. Since f is upper semi-continuous and $f(J_i, u_i) \ge 1$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $f(J, u) \ge 1$. Thus, $J \in \widehat{\mathcal{J}}^c$.

4.5 Generalized Cauchy-Riemann operators

Lemma 4.8 (Unique Continuation). Let (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) be a connected, but possibly non-compact, Riemann surface D be a generalized Cauchy-Riemann operator over (Σ, \mathfrak{j}) , and $\mu \in \ker D$. If there exists an non-empty open subset $U \subset \Sigma$ such that $\mu|_U = 0$, then $\mu = 0$.

Proof. [33, Proposition 3.1].

Ivashkovich-Shevchishin twisting construction

Proposition 4.9. Serve Duality

Department of Mathematics, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794 azinger@math.stonybrook.edu

References

- M. Boggi and M. Pikaart, Galois covers of moduli of curves, Compositio Math. 120 (2000), no. 2, 171-191
- K. Fukaya and K. Ono, Arnold Conjecture and Gromov-Witten invariant, Topology 38 (1999), no. 5, 933–1048
- [3] P. Georgieva, Open Gromov-Witten invariants in the presence of an anti-symplectic involution, Adv. Math. 301 (2016), 116-160
- [4] P. Georgieva and A. Zinger, The moduli space of maps with crosscaps: Fredholm theory and orientability, Comm. Anal. Geom. 23 (2015), no. 3, 499-558
- [5] P. Georgieva and A. Zinger, Real Gromov-Witten theory in all genera and real enumerative geometry: construction, math/1504.06617v3
- [6] P. Georgieva and A. Zinger, Real Gromov-Witten theory in all genera and real enumerative geometry: properties, math/1507.06633v2
- [7] P. Georgieva and A. Zinger, Real Gromov-Witten theory in all genera and real enumerative geometry: computation, math/1510.07568
- [8] P. Georgieva and A. Zinger, On the topology of real bundle pairs over nodal symmetric surfaces, Topology Appl. 214 (2016), 109-126
- [9] P. Griffiths and J. Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry, Wiley, 1994
- [10] M. Gromov, Pseudoholomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds, Invent. Math. 82 (1985), no 2, 307–347
- [11] E. Ionel and T. Parker, *Relative Gromov-Witten invariants*, Ann. of Math. 157 (2003), no. 1, 45–96
- [12] S. Ivashkovich and V. Shevchishin, Pseudo-holomorphic curves and envelopes of meromorphy of two-spheres in CP², math.CV/9804014
- [13] F. Knudsen, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves, II. The stacks $M_{g,n}$. Math. Scand. 52 (1983), no. 2, 161-199
- [14] A.-M. Li and Y. Ruan, Symplectic surgery and Gromov-Witten invariants of Calabi-Yau 3folds, Invent. Math. 145 (2001), no. 1, 151–218
- [15] J. Li and G. Tian, Virtual moduli cycles and Gromov-Witten invariants of general symplectic manifolds, Topics in Symplectic 4-Manifolds, 47-83, First Int. Press Lect. Ser., I, Internat. Press, 199
- [16] D. McDuff and D. Salamon, J-Holomorphic Curves and Quantum Cohomology, University Lecture Series 6, AMS, 1994
- [17] D. McDuff and D. Salamon, Introduction to Symplectic Topology, 2nd Ed., Oxford University Press, 1998

- [18] D. McDuff and D. Salamon, J-holomorphic Curves and Symplectic Topology, Colloquium Publications 52, AMS, 2012
- [19] J. Munkres, *Topology: a first course*, 2nd Ed., Pearson, 2000
- [20] Y.-G. Oh and K. Zhu, Embedding property of J-holomorphic curves in Calabi-Yau manifolds for generic J, Asian J. Math. 13 (2009), no. 3, 323-340
- [21] Y. Ruan, Stringy geometry and topology of orbifolds, Contemp. Math. 312, 187-233, AMS, 2002
- [22] Y. Ruan and G. Tian, A mathematical theory of quantum cohomology, J. Differential Geom. 42 (1995), no. 2, 259–367
- [23] Y. Ruan and G. Tian, Higher genus symplectic invariants and sigma models coupled with gravity, Invent. Math. 130 (1997), no. 3, 455–516
- [24] V. Shevchishin, Pseudoholomorphic curves and the symplectic isotopy problem, math/0010262
- [25] S. Smale, An infinite dimensional version of Sard's Theorem, American J. Math. 87 (1965), no. 4, 861–866
- [26] C. Wendl, Transversality and super-rigidity for multiply covered holomorphic curves, math/1609.09867
- [27] C. Wendl, Lectures on Holomorphic Curves in Symplectic and Contact Geometry, math/1011.1690
- [28] A. Zinger, Pseudocycles and integral homology, Trans. AMS 360 (2008), no. 5, 2741-2765
- [29] A. Zinger, A sharp compactness theorem for genus-one pseudo-holomorphic maps, Geom. Topol. 13 (2009), 2427-2522
- [30] A. Zinger, Basic Riemannian geometry and Sobolev estimates used in symplectic topology, math/1012.3980
- [31] A. Zinger, A comparison theorem for Gromov-Witten invariants in the symplectic category, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 1, 535–574
- [32] A. Zinger, The determinant line bundle for Fredholm operators: construction, properties, and classification, Math. Scand. 118 (2016), no. 2, 203-268
- [33] A. Zinger, Notes on J-holomorphic maps, math/1706.00331
- [34] A. Zinger, Real Ruan-Tian perturbations, math/1701.01420